IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2012

International student teaching in non-Western cultures: Impact on first year teachers

Leigh Christine Martin Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Bilingual, Multilingual, and Multicultural Education Commons</u>, and the <u>Teacher</u> <u>Education and Professional Development Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Martin, Leigh Christine, "International student teaching in non-Western cultures: Impact on first year teachers" (2012). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 12399. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/12399

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



International student teaching in non-Western cultures: Impact on first year teachers

by

Leigh Christine Martin

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty

in partial fulfillment for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Education (Educational Leadership)

Program of Study Committee: Frankie Santos Laanan, Co-major Professor Tyson Marsh, Co-major Professor Larry H. Ebbers Patricia Leigh Daniel C. Robinson

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
Background of the Study	2
Statement of the Problem	4
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions	4
Theoretical Framework	5
Significance of the Study	7
Definition of Terms	8
Summary	10
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	12
Historic Overview of Multicultural Education in the United States	12
Colonial Era	12
19 th Century	13
20 th Century/Progressive Era	14
Great Depression/World War II	15
Post World War	16
Late 1900s – Present	18
Mono-Cultural Teaching Population	22
International Student Teaching	24
Self-awareness	25
Increased self-efficacy	28
Empathy and respect for individual differences	30
Culturally diverse teaching strategies	31
CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY	
Rationale for Use of a Qualitative Approach	35
Epistemology – Constructionism	36
Theoretical Perspective – Interpretivism	36
Methodology – Phenomenology	39
Research Design	40
Participants	40
Methods	42
Demographics	42
Phenomenological interviews	42
Data Analysis	46
Trustworthiness	46
Delimitations	47



Limitations	48
Summary	49
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS	50
Profile of the Participants	50
Alissa	51
Amanda	52
Darci	53
Jacey	54
Janelle	55
Themes Emerging from Student Teaching Reflection – Day 1	56
Welcoming environment	57
Professional dedication	58
Final Student Teaching Reflections Based on the Research Questions	59
Question 1. How has student teaching abroad influenced your mindset	
(as a teacher or in general)?	60
Commonalities among participants	60
Professional relationships & collaboration	60
Enthusiasm for teaching	61
Question 2. What unique skills have you gained while student teaching	
abroad?	62
Exposure to multiple nationalities & unique perspectives	62
Second language speakers necessitated differentiated instruction	63
Question 3. How has student teaching abroad influenced you personally?	65
Self-awareness	66
Commonalities among participants	70
Question 4. How will these personal influences impact your teaching and,	
ultimately, your future students?	71
Summary	74
CHAPTER 5. FINDINGS	76
DMIS Themes from Interviews of Participants as First Year Teachers	76
Increased interaction with people of other cultures	77
People are the same, yet different, and differences are important	78
Participants think or act outside their own culture (typically occurs	, 0
when living abroad)	80
Authenticity; the definition of one's self is expanded to include	00
alternative context	85
Adaption Stage of Cultural Sensitivity	87
Alissa	87
Amanda	89
Darci	94
Jacey	98
Janelle	101
Summary	104



CHAPTER 6. DI	SCUSSION	106
Summary		106
Discussion	n	109
Implicatio	ns and Recommendations for Policy, Practice, and Teacher Education	119
Recommendations for Future Research		
Personal F	Reflexivity and Transformation	128
APPENDIX A.	PARTICIPANT COMMUNICATION	133
APPENDIX B. DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS, STUDENT TEACHING		
	REFLECTIONS, INTERVIEW FORMS, AND RECORDKEEPING	136
REFERENCES		143



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was made possible through the willingness of the participants who dedicated time during the most challenging year of their careers—their first year of teaching. Their time, enthusiasm, and passion for sharing their stories are what brought this study to life.

Interacting with my cohort, my UNI colleagues (on both ends of the hall), and my ISU committee members who have all demonstrated genuine passion and professional dedication has encouraged me daily. Their questions, interest and advocacy have inspired me to persist, even when I doubted myself. I am grateful to my co-major professors, Drs. Frankie Santos-Laanan and Tyson Marsh, for their guidance in conducting and writing this research. Thanks also to my committee: Drs. Larry Ebbers, Patricia Leigh and Dan Robinson, for their support of my study; and to Judy Weiland, Marisa Rivera, Patricia Hahn, for their flawless attention to detail.

My family will forever be my source of strength. I am eternally grateful to my mother who has exhibited inner strength and a giving spirit every day of my life, and my father who raised me to believe that anything is possible with a positive mental attitude. I am inspired by my husband, Jason, who believes in me and reminds me that the pursuit for happiness can be challenging, but worth it. Happiness is a choice. Finally, to my two daughters, Willow and Ayla, who keep balance in my life and joy in my heart; it is my greatest prayer that they will continue to be as loving, confident, cheerful, and spirited as they are today. As they look back on this journey, my hope is that they will be encouraged to embrace a good challenge and believe in themselves as much as they have believed in me.



v

ABSTRACT

This research illuminated how five first-year teachers described the intercultural development that occurred while student teaching in a non-Western culture, and the value that those experiences abroad brought to their classrooms during their first year of teaching. The focus was to capture the essence of the experiences abroad as perceived and described by participants and how those experiences influenced both the tacit and explicit practices in their first year of teaching.

This qualitative study focused on four research questions: (a) How do first year teachers describe the intercultural development that occurs while student teaching in a non-Western culture?, (b) How does student teaching in a non-Western culture bring value to the first year teacher's classroom?, (c) What role does student teaching in a non-Western culture have on the tacit and explicit practices used in a first year teacher's classroom? and (d) How do personal influences in a non-Western culture impact student teaching and, ultimately, the first year teacher's students?

Analysis of the participants' student teaching reflections and interview transcripts indicated: (a) they were welcomed into the non-Western cultures; (b) professional dedication was displayed by the teachers. Final reflections revealed the student teachers were influenced personally and professionally through: (a) professional relations and collaboration; (b) enthusiasm for teaching; (c) exposure to multiple nationalities and unique perspectives; (d) second language speakers and differentiated instruction; and (e) increased self-awareness.



Bennett's (1993) Developmental Model of Intercultural Sensitivity (DMIS) provided a framework of understanding the intercultural development that occurred when the participants left their home culture and were authentically immersed in a non-Western culture. Analysis of the data indicated that the participants demonstrated an advanced level of cultural sensitivity by falling in the Adaptation stage of Bennett's model. Participants were transformed both personally and professionally in their intercultural sensitivity and abilities to empathize with diverse student, while differentiating instruction through culturally relevant practices.

Research findings suggest implications and recommendations for practice and policy, as well as for future research. Increased support for university faculty and pre-service teachers to experience non-Western cultures has the potential to transform pre-service teachers in achieving improved practices for teaching all students.



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

I can vividly remember the moment that one teacher expanded my horizons and introduced me to the world that existed beyond my "culturally encapsulated community" (Marx, 2011). I was in 11th grade Eastern Civilization class and despising every bit of the apparently meaningless information that was being relayed for me to memorize and later forget. As a teenager, China (or any other eastern civilization) was not and would not ever be important to me. I would never go there nor did I know anyone from there; I just had to get through the class. Then, one day my teacher mentioned to us that she had recently been to visit her all-American daughter who was living and working in China. She shared artifacts from her travels with our class, including a rock that she picked up at the base of the Great Wall in China. Instantly my heavy eyes widened as I perked up, and I began wondering why on earth her daughter chose to live there. I started to imagine that someday I might go there, or somewhere similar. I could hardly wait for my hands to touch the plain gray rock that was circulating around our classroom, the rock that had traveled all the way from the Great Wall in China. From that moment I had an increased respect for my teacher, as well as a newfound interest in Eastern civilizations as a place that may someday be meaningful to me. In my opinion, countless students sit in U.S. classrooms daily, listening to information that is seemingly irrelevant to the life of the student, in part because the teacher lacks life experiences to make the content relevant. This personal experience is just one example of how a lived experience of one teacher made learning meaningful and engaged one student me.



That moment in 11th grade sparked my interest to see the world and experience other cultures. As a result, I found opportunities in college to travel and was able to spend one summer in Okinawa, another in Tokyo, as well as a full semester in Cairo, Egypt as I completed student teaching. My own experiences have led me to believe, that as teachers are increasingly exposed to diversity through authentic life experiences, they are increasingly able to connect with their students, make learning meaningful and build upon the student's prior knowledge. Because this one teacher was able to use her own life experience and put content into context, my life was truly changed.

Background of the Study

The tragedy of September 11, 2001 was a somber, yet actual depiction of what can occur when understanding and sensitivity toward basic human differences ceases to exist. While this could be perceived as a challenging and dangerous time in our history, classroom teachers have a tremendous opportunity facing them. Bridging the gap that exists within our society can start in our schools as the opportunity is presented to replicate society and prepare our youth for life outside of the school's walls. When a safe haven of tolerance and understanding exists within those walls, it can then begin to exist in our communities as well.

Despite increased attempts by university programs to produce multicultural educators, novice teachers commonly lack these necessary skills and are failing to meet the needs of the increasingly diverse student population which exist in U.S. schools today. Immigration has heightened the level of cultural, racial, linguistic and religious diversity within the United States. According to the 2007 U.S. Census Bureau, nearly 74% of all the U.S. population is white. It is projected that the nation's white population will continue to decrease, while



diverse populations continue to increase. A disconnect stemming from the mono-cultural backgrounds of those who traditionally enter the teaching field contrasts with the increasingly heterogeneous student body. Thus, 21st Century teachers will rely on skills and attitudes that are far different than those of previous generations, while embracing each other's unique qualities.

Preparing 21st century teachers is an ongoing challenge as teacher education programs across the U.S. attempt to meet the ever-changing dynamics of our schools. Schools are no longer preparing students to function solely in their home communities or states. As described by Friedman (2005) in *The world is flat: A brief history of the twenty first century*, and "...the bewildering global scene happening before our eyes" (book jacket insert). The theme reoccurring throughout Friedman's book is that our schools face the new challenge of preparing our students to effectively understand, compete and collaborate within the local market, as well as on the national and global scene. According to Marsh, Hollingsworth, Hale, and Gillon (2011), population shifts are occurring, even in Midwestern states with reputations of being predominantly rural. Iowa, for example, has seen a dramatic shift in racial composition, particularly in the student population where the number of non-white students has more than doubled in the past decade. This changing face of U.S. schools has created an urgent need to prepare teachers with culturally responsive teaching practices.

The current study was predicated on the belief that student teaching in an international location can serve as a catalyst for pre-service teachers to simultaneously gain cultural sensitivity while deepening their understanding of teaching and learning. This study investigated how first year teachers who student taught in non-Western cultures apply their experiences abroad to their current teaching practices.



Statement of the Problem

Nationwide, teacher education faculty are repeating such phrases as "connect with students", "make learning meaningful", and "build upon the student's prior knowledge." With a gaping disconnect between the cultural backgrounds and life experiences of the teacher and the students, it is difficult to fathom how these expectations might be achievable. Research has clearly indicated that those who enter the teaching profession are predominantly white, middle-class American women possessing little understanding of their own culture, let alone that of others and the role that culture plays in teaching and learning (Gay, 2000; Marsh et al., 2011; Marx, 2008; Sleeter, 2001). An ethnocentric worldview of a teacher who lacks intercultural experiences, having never experienced being the "other", raises valid concern for the ability to make learning meaningful for the diversity in today's schools, and the global scene that they should be preparing students for.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore and gain understanding of how first year teachers describe the intercultural development that occurred while student teaching in a non-Western culture was, and the value that those experiences abroad bring to their classrooms during their first year of teaching. The focus was to capture the essence of the experiences abroad as perceived and described by participants and how those experiences influence both the tacit and explicit practices in their first year of teaching.

Research Questions

This study attempted to add to existing literature. Specifically, this study intended to bridge the gap between current research focusing on student teaching experiences in Western



cultures, by adding the voice of those who student teach in non-Western cultures. The following research questions guided this study.

- 1. How do first year teachers describe the intercultural development that occurs while student teaching in a non-Western culture?
- 2. How does student teaching in a non-Western culture bring value to the first year teacher's classroom?
- 3. What role does student teaching in a non-Western culture have on the tacit and explicit practices used in a first year teacher's classroom?
- 4. How do personal influences in a non-Western culture impact student teaching and, ultimately, the first year teacher's students?

Theoretical Framework

Theories on intercultural development explain the reactions that people have toward cultural differences. International and intercultural experiences provide opportunities for people to step outside of their own culture and confront underlying cognitive orientation toward cultural differences. This study applied Bennett's (1993) Developmental Model for Intercultural Sensitivity (DMIS) as a theoretical framework for capturing the meaning that five first-year teachers made regarding their intercultural development during a student teaching experience in a non-Western culture, and how intercultural sensitivity informed culturally relevant practices in their first year of teaching. DMIS is rooted in the theoretical underpinnings of personal construct theory formulated by George Kelly (1963), who held that experience is a function of our categorization, or construing of events (Bennett, 2001).



Bennett's (1993) Developmental Model of Intercultural Sensitivity (DMIS) provides a framework of understanding the intercultural development that occurs when a person leaves their home culture and is authentically immersed in another culture. According to Bennett (2001), the underlying assumption in this model is that, as one's experience of cultural differences becomes more sophisticated, one's competence in intercultural relations increases. This model outlines six stages of intercultural sensitivity that range from ethnocentric to ethnorelative thinking. The first three stages are on a continuum of ethnocentricity, which is described as viewing one's own culture as central to reality. These three ethnocentric stages include denial, defense, and minimization. Individuals in these stages tend to avoid people of other cultures and believe that their own culture is the dominant or superior culture. They are often critical of other cultures and can become insistent about correcting others' behavior to match their expectations.

When applying the theories of DMIS to the intercultural sensitivity of future educators, the goal is that international experiences provide an opportunity for teacher's to move toward ethnorelative thinking. This stage includes acceptance, adaptation and integration. Bennett (2001) described these as a state in which one view's their own culture as one of many equally complex worldviews. As a person moves toward integration, one's worldview is expanded and intentional changes in behaviors occur.

The second three DMIS stages are on a continuum of *ethnorelativity*, meaning that one's own culture is experienced in the context of other cultures (Bennett, 2001). Acceptance, adaptation and integration comprise the second three stages of the DMIS model. In general, the ethnorelative stages are ways of seeking cultural differences rather than avoiding them. In these stages one might accept cultural differences as important, adapt a



perspective to take cultural differences into account, or integrate a whole concept into a personal identity.

This study examined five first-year teachers as they implemented practices learned in their international student teaching experience. Close examination was made of the intercultural competencies that these teachers exhibited in their first year of teaching based on the Developmental Model for Intercultural Sensitivity.

Significance of the Study

This qualitative study is significant and relevant in adding to the knowledge base of student teaching in a non-Western culture and its impact on a first year teachers' cultural sensitivity. Multicultural education continues to be a vital component of the coursework required for pre-service teachers, as university programs strive to ensure that content is meeting the needs of 21^{st} Century learners in the context of globalization and immigration.

Many universities are now offering their pre-service teachers the opportunity to student teach abroad; however, the options are often limited to Western-based cultures that do not differ vastly from that of the U.S., nor do they resemble the cultural differences that many immigrant students encounter as they arrive in U.S. classrooms. These Western-based cultures, such as England, Ireland and Australia simplify the placement process as university faculty are able to communicate in English with school personnel to arrange housing and academic placements. Providing this ease of communication for university faculty gives a similar comfort for the student teacher upon arrival and for the duration of the time spent in the location. Often a desired outcome of both the student teacher and the university faculty is to improve empathy, cultural sensitivity and increase understanding of differences as these



student teachers become novice teachers. While this can still be accomplished in a Westernbased culture, these traits are magnified when the student teacher truly reaches beyond Western cultures and is immersed in foreign surroundings, as many immigrants experience in the U.S.

Non-Western immigrants comprise a majority of the foreign born population in the U.S. today. For this reason, this study focused specifically on student teaching experiences in non-Western cultures as it more closely resembles the immigrant population in U.S. schools. Several publications and dissertations have focused on the impact of international student teaching experiences; however, they have been situated predominantly in Western cultures (Cushner & Mahon, 2003; Marx 2008; Stachowski, Richardson & Henderson, 2003).

In a time of educational budget cuts and fiscal crises, universities are forced to closely examine their program offerings. When the lens falls on international student teaching, this study may serve to inform educational policy makers and faculty of the impact of an international student teaching experience. The results of this study may also impact the hiring practices of school administrators as they contemplate which teachers are best suited to meet the needs of their student bodies.

Definition of Terms

The following terms were defined for use in this study: *Ethnocentric:* Viewing one's own culture as central to reality (Bennett, 2001). *Ethnorelevant:* Experiencing one's own culture in the context of other cultures (Bennett, 2001).



Expatriate: A person living or residing in a country or culture other than that of the person's upbringing.

Intercultural competence: The ability to communicate effectively in cross cultural situations and relate appropriately in a variety of cultural contexts (Bennett & Bennett, 2001). *Culturally Responsive:* Using the cultural knowledge, prior experiences, and performance style of diverse students to make learning more appropriate and effective for them (Gay 2000). Ladson-Billings (1992) purported that culturally responsive teachers develop intellectual, social, emotional, and political learning by "using cultural referents to impart knowledge, skills, and attitudes" (p. 382).

Non-Western: cultures that have adopted cultural values, beliefs and traditions not commonly associated with Western Europe

Novice teacher: A teacher who is new to the teaching profession.

Pre-Service Teacher: A university student who is majoring in education but has not yet completed all necessary coursework.

Student Teacher: A semester long, university-supervised, field experience serving as the final field experience for a potential teaching professional. Student teaching is an unpaid internship that offers an opportunity for prospective teaching professionals to be mentored by master teachers.

Western cultures: Cultures that have adopted cultural values, beliefs and traditions commonly associated with Western Europe



Summary

Recent decades have produced an abundance of initiatives and literature describing various approaches to accomplishing diversity goals in educational environments. As the diversity in U.S. schools continues to increase, it is of the utmost importance that our educators exhibit the intercultural skills necessary to make learning meaningful for all students. Although the ethnic backgrounds of teachers in the U.S. is not as culturally diverse as the students that they teach, intercultural development is attainable when one reaches beyond the comforts of their home communities and experiences life as the "other". While practice teaching in an international environment, the student teacher typically lives in the local community amongst the local community members. In doing so, the student teacher often experiences an existence as a minority in relation to language, race, ethnicity and religion. There is also an element of situational poverty due to the nature of an un-paid internship; however, there is also awareness gained that their financial situation is only a temporary one. Research has suggested that student teaching in multicultural classrooms while living as an outside in a foreign community can cause pre-service teacher to critically examine their own cultural identities and beliefs as well as those of their students, making intercultural sensitivity possible in ways not achievable in domestic placements.

Bennett's Developmental Model for Intercultural Sensitivity describes six stages of intercultural sensitivity ranging from ethnocentric to ethnorelative. The study intended to utilize this theoretical framework in effort to explore the cross cultural effectiveness of novice teachers based on their student teaching experience in non-Western cultures. The study was predicated on the belief that cultural understanding cannot be taught; rather, it needs to be experienced to be truly understood. As expressed in Phi Delta Kappan



International (2008), "You can't play a piano by asking simply to have a look at it. You've actually got to lift the lid and play the keys. How can you get somebody to be a global citizen if they don't actually interact with somebody in another place" (p. 2)? Cultural experiences such international student teaching offer pre-service teachers the opportunity to begin their careers equipped to be a multicultural educator while creating meaningful learning experiences for generations of students.

Chapter 2 provides a review of research and literature informing this study. The review of literature was conducted to provide a foundation to contextualize both the past and present events related to this study. Chapter 3 describes the rationale for employing the methodology, design and methods selected for this qualitative study. The results are presented in Chapter 4 in the words of the participants. Chapter 5 presents the findings based on the literature, and offers recommendations for practice and future research.



CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

"The question is no longer whether education will be influenced by globalization, but rather how education has the potential to serve the public by cultivating critical questioning about the kind of society we wish to be building, and the kinds of needs social systems should serve."

Christine Sleeter, 2003

The purpose of this study was to examine how first year teachers describe the intercultural development that occurs while student teaching in a non-western culture, and to explore, within a multicultural framework, how those experiences impact first year teachers' abilities in the classroom. The review of the literature in this chapter has been organized into distinct themes that are relevant to topics that provided a foundation for this study and broadly contextualize both the past and present events impacting the focus of this study: (a) the history and foundations of multicultural education in U.S. schools and universities; (b) the increasingly disproportionate diverse student population in relation to the mono-cultural teacher population; and (c) the impact of an international student teaching experience with respect to multicultural perspectives and approaches regarding teaching and learning.

Historic Overview of Multicultural Education in the United States

Colonial Era

Settlers along the Eastern coast of the U.S. came from a variety of European countries, yet shared some common assumptions about education. "The first assumption was that only a few people needed much formal education" (Marsh & Willis, 2007, p. 30). Education typically came from the home and through daily activities. During this time period, education was generally reserved for clergy men or nobility as these people were



among the few who needed to possess reading skills. Spring (2008) posited that the goal of these new settlers "was to create a good society, which meant a well ordered religious society that would win God's approval and be used as a model by the rest of the world" (p. 13). Initially formal schools existed for males who needed to be literate in Latin for religious and moral training; however, by 1749, Benjamin Franklin proposed forming an academy that would introduce practical subjects to the existing Latin curriculum. The audience widened to include the growing number of merchants and middle-class males, and consensus existed on what an educated person must know (Marsh & Willis, 2007). As a proponent of English language schools, Benjamin Franklin designed schools that were used for Anglicization. According to Spring (2008), this practice "illustrates a theme in American educational history: The use of the school as a means of spreading a particular culture..." (p. 23).

19th Century

During the 19th century, American views swayed away from religious education and turned to a society-centered curriculum. It was believed the creation of a good society would rely heavily upon the education of its citizens, thus the common school movement came into being. Educational thought shifted from the belief that only leaders needed to be well educated to the perception that "democracy required broad political participation and thus everyone needed some formal education, not necessarily to be leaders themselves, but to be able to choose leaders wisely" (Marsh & Willis, 2007, p. 33). Spring (2008) elaborated on the beliefs of the common schools reformers and described the reform as one that could "be used to assure the dominance of the Protestant Anglo-American culture, reduce tensions



between social classes, eliminate crime and poverty, stabilize a political system, and form patriotic citizens" (p. 78).

As the United States became increasingly urban, immigration swelled and school curriculum included more practical subjects as school became compulsory. The Naturalization Act was passed in 1790, restricting citizenship to "free white persons" to the exclusion of the African and Asian immigrants, and Native Americans. Schools for these minority groups were segregated, if at all (Applebaum, 2002).

20th Century/Progressive Era

At the beginning of the 20th century, Cremin (1975) described the situation in the United Sates as "...teaching an astonishing variety of subjects to an immensely heterogeneous clientele" (p. 19-20). He noted that progressive education meant improving the lives of students in several ways, including "tailoring instruction more and more to the different kinds of classes of children who were being brought within the purview of the school" (Marsh & Willis, p. 43).

Progressive educators of this century, such as John Dewey, also encouraged social reform through schooling, and developed philosophies which placed emphasis on *how* to think rather than *what* to think. Horace Mann (as cited in Ornstein & Hunkins, 1993) led the growth of the normal school movement and sought to provide a free public education for students from a variety of backgrounds. Mann (as cited in Sergiovanni, 1982) also believed that social mobility was possible through equalization of schools. Through the normal school's use of public funding, a common curriculum was created to encourage shared understanding amongst diverse classes and ethnic groups, thus forming a framework similar



to those present in schools today. Strongly rooted in the work of Horace Mann and John Dewey, the Progressive era emphasized that children learn best when following procedures and engaging in activities that emulate real-world experiences. This pedagogical movement persists in present day schools in various forms.

The Industrial Revolution increased the number of immigrants, and schools adopted theories of immigrant assimilation evolved as well. Schools upheld a hidden curriculum to purposefully lose others' cultural identities, often referred to as "Americanization" (Gutek, 1993). Through Americanization, immigrants were expected to assimilate the English language and Protestant values while enter the melting pot of children who were losing their ethnic heritage. Pluralistic ideologies were not encouraged or desired in schools. Minimizing cultural diversity and opportunities for cultural exchanges and expanding views that normally develop from multiculturalism were purposefully lost (Gutek, 1993).

Great Depression/World War II

An increase in diverse populations brought about new concerns for intercultural programs to address racism and discrimination in schools. It was believed that fostering a greater understanding of other cultures was necessary to live in harmony, and that cultural sensitivity may reduce, or eliminate, international and domestic conflict (Appelbaum, 2002). Private companies began offering scholarships focused on foreign exchanges and international studies (Pickert 1992), but public support for such initiatives still lagged. It was not until 1946, with the inception of the Fulbright Program, named for Senator J. William Fulbright, that the U.S. government sponsored such an international exchange. This exchange was intended to "promote international good will through the exchange of students



in the fields of education, culture and science" (U.S. Department of State, available at http://fulbright.state.gov/history.html)

The melting pot ideals came into question as a result of the Merriam Report (1928). Initially intended to examine the conditions of Native Americans, this report had far reaching implications with the impact of deculturalization of U.S. immigrants. Toward the end of the 20th century, initiatives for multi-cultural school reform, along with results from the Merriam Report, brought into question the concept of losing one's ethnic identity. Evidence emphasizing the value of one's own culture reversed the previous beliefs toward assimilation or "Americanization".

Post World War

Following World War II, greater attention was focused on desegregation, multicultural education and the concept of a global community. In the decades that followed efforts continued to reduce racism, ethnic tensions, and other prejudices that existed within the U.S. citizens and communities.

The Supreme Court's landmark ruling, Brown v. Board of Education (1954), declared it unconstitutional for the state to support separate but equal schools for black and white students. With this case sparking the flames for the Civil Rights movement of the 1960s, multicultural education came to the forefront as African Americans, and then other groups, began to demand that discrimination cease. Ethnic groups demanded that "the schools and other educational institutions reform curricula to reflect their experiences, histories, cultures and perspectives" (Banks, 2010, p. 6). Additionally, these same groups demanded that schools hire teachers and administrators from diverse backgrounds to ensure that their



children would have successful role-modeling. As a result of these demands, schools and educators responded with quickly developed "single-group studies" (Sleeter & Grant, 2007; Banks, 2010). However, these elective ethnic studies courses lacked depth and were typically only taken by students of the group being studied.

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 determined that "no person, on the basis of race, color, or national origin, could be excluded from or denied the benefits of any programs receiving federal financial assistance." At the same time, as these changes were being implemented throughout the nation, the Immigration Act of 1965, was also put into effect, permitting a new wave of non-European immigrants to legally enter the United States. This resulted in an ethnic shift as immigration doubled between 1965 and 1970, and then doubled again between 1970 and 1990. This new wave of immigrants was not of European decent but typically from Asia, Central and South American, creating demographic diversity that had not existed in the previous 300 years (Frum, 2000).

In the ensuing decades, the Civil Rights movement redefined the term multicultural education to describe "a wide variety of programs and practices related to educational equity, women, ethnic groups, language minorities, low income groups, and people with disabilities" (Banks, p. 7). By the end of the century "attention of both educators and the American public itself was being captured by free schools, open classrooms, and how individual centered and society centered curricula could be worked out within them" (Marsh & Willis, p. 55). As a result, numerous governmental programs were created, each attempting to help disadvantaged groups.



Late 1900s – Present

In the late 1900s, skepticism escalated toward education and educators in the U.S. "Many pressures mounted on schools for what then became known as accountability" (Marsh & Willis, p. 57). Accountability asked that teachers be responsible for what their students learn. This apparently simplistic request created an unrealistic demand that teachers also control the significant influences that family and other outside forces have on a student's learning and desire to learn. "When applied to curriculum, this kind of pressure led toward the narrowing of what was taught and how it was taught to small and non-problematical units, especially those that could most easily be tested" (p. 57).

As the confidence in the U.S. education system plummeted, hundreds of national reports were produced by various governmental agencies as well as private organizations. One report, the National Commission on Excellence in Education (NCEE), stood out in terms of its long-lasting influence on curriculum. The results, released in April 1983, *A Nation at Risk: The Imperative for Educational Reform*, was embraced by President Reagan and later established him as an educational reformer. Marsh and Willis (2007) purported, "The report identified a crisis that it alleged the nation was facing; its proposed solution was largely through the reform of the curricula of American secondary schools" (p. 57). The opening paragraphs played heavily on the fears of Americans that our schools were failing to meet the needs of the students and society they were designed to serve. The report stated to the American people that "while we can take justifiable pride in what our schools and colleges have historically accomplished and contributed to the United States and the well-being of its people, the educational foundations of our society are presently being eroded by a rising tide of mediocrity that threatens our very future as a nation and a people" (National Commission



on Excellence in Education, 1983, p. 5). The NCEE made several accusations and recommendations for what it called the "Five New Basics" required for high school graduation. However, it failed to recognize that in its comparisons to the previous century, where approximately ten percent of the high school age population attended secondary school, the report was released at a time when nearly 90% of the high school population attended school. The U.S. had changed tremendously over the century and now served far more than the previous elite, but encompassed a larger and more diverse student population. With numerous simplified recommendations, ultimately no major reform was recommended. It was merely suggested that schools needed to get back to teaching the "basic academic subjects, spend more time on this task, test students more and measure the results more frequently" (Marsh & Willis, p. 60). With the rapidly changing demographics of the nation, this one-size-fits-all approach to curriculum left little room for curriculum flexibility, wisdom and decision making ability of the teachers, and certainly lacked freedom for individuality.

In January of 2002, President George W. Bush signed the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act into law, enacting "the most sweeping changes to the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965" (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.). At the heart of this bipartisan platform were high hopes of improving the performance of students in American schools by setting high standards and establishing measurable goals. In doing so, states were to determine their own standards, and were also required to develop assessments in basic skills in order to remain eligible for federal funding. "NCLB is based on precisely the same assumptions and strategies as *A Nation at Risk:* Allege an educational crisis that can be cured by emphasizing a few basic academic subjects, spending more time on the task of teaching them, testing students more and measuring the results more frequently" (Marsh & Willis, p.



62). A test driven educational system was cemented by the passage of this law, while the effects varied widely. Spring (2008) likened many of the goals of NCLB to other similar goals throughout the history of US education. Spring discussed the similarities in the early years, when schools focused on "providing everyone with an equal opportunity to compete for jobs and wealth" (p. 490), and the later attempts to use schools as a way to "create and maintain a common American culture" (p. 490) while supporting "the use of standardized tests as a means of governing the educational system, sorting students for future employment, and providing equality of opportunity. Spring proposed the notion that, perhaps, "the historical events inevitably lead to No Child Left Behind" (p. 491).

Under NCLB, schools that were previously experiencing success, continued to do so, while struggling schools had increased pressure to raise test scores, especially those with large populations of students from low income communities, English language learners and students of color (Valli, Croninger, & Chambliss, 2008). With new attention to academic standards, multicultural education, diversity and equality were seen as non-academic and attention quickly shifted to test scores and basic academics subject matter (Sleeter, 2007).

Simultaneously, the intellectual work disseminating from the universities established a foundation supportive for multicultural education and advanced the perspectives that differed sharply with those of most of the political and economic leaders (Banks, 2010). With whites no longer the majority in many major U.S. cities (U.S. Department of Homeland Security), Islam as the fastest growing religion in the U.S., and 20% of U.S. households speaking a language other than English, (U.S. Census 2006), a major thread running through most debates about schooling was the relative importance of preparing students for jobs



versus preparing them for active citizenship, and whether it is possible to do both (Banks, 2010).

While K-12 public education was focusing on standardization of curriculum, the internationalization of higher education was rapidly occurring at unprecedented rates. Between 1954 and 2002, the number of foreign students jumped from a total of 34,232 to 690,923 (Institute for International Education, 2010). Acknowledgement of interdependence among world nations enabled university leaders to include internationalization into mission statements and strategic planning. Such initiatives also included proposals for increased attention to foreign languages at all levels of education. However, budget constraints and reductions of most federal initiatives for international education significantly reduced or eliminated resources of international agencies. These agencies included such programs as the Fulbright program, the national Security Education Program and the U.S. Information Agency (Kanet, 1996).

Other forms of resistance toward multi-cultural education existed by sheer nature of who held the power and privilege in creating school policies and practice. While some scholars promoted and worked toward multi-cultural efforts, critical theorists argued that schools intentionally served the interests of the wealthy and powerful, while purposefully excluding those less privileged. McLaren (2003) posited that "schools operate mainly to reproduce the values and privileges of existing elites" (p. 289). Under the belief that social order prohibited equal opportunities, true efforts toward multi-cultural education had the potential to "transform society, with the learner functioning as an active subject committed to self and social transformation" (p. 102).



Internationalizing a university campus requires a commitment to more than simply offering foreign language and study abroad programs. When internationalizing, top level administrators and faculty must resist hesitation to make changes in curriculum. At the heart of internationalizing a campus is internationalizing the curriculum (Johnston & Edelstein, 1993) and recognizing that attitudes of administrators, faculty, professional staff and students all contribute to the culture of acceptance for diversity (Hayward, 2000). Collectively, all stakeholders must contribute to the collaborative goal.

With the rising awareness of diversity issues, and decades of hope that schooling might be the great equalizer, there remain critical concerns regarding the nation's schools. Nieto (2000) noted, "School conditions in our society have been consistently, systematically, and disproportionately unequal and unfair, and the major casualties have been those students who differ significantly in social class, race, ethnicity, native language, and gender from what is considered the 'mainstream'" (p. 181). It is time that educators embrace diversity while infusing it into their practice, rather than addressing it as a single-subject, yet how to do so remains a crucial question.

Mono-Cultural Teaching Population

Marx and Marx (2011) posited that the vast majority of teachers in U.S. schools are European American, middle-class, and monolingual in English and thus, culturally different from many of the students they teach. This study will describe the value that an international student teaching experience has on a first-year teacher's ability to use culturally responsive teaching in 21st Century schools.



There is ample evidence provided by Marx and Moss (2011) that "the vast majority of teachers in the U.S. are European American, middle class, and monolingual in English, and, thus, culturally different than many of the students that they teach" (p. 36). The authors further discussed the devastating effects when "teachers often hold ethnocentric beliefs that negatively influence the educational experiences of diverse students" (p. 36). There is a growing population of non-Western immigrants in the U.S and Europeans now comprise only a small percentage of the nation's immigrant population. According to the 2006 U.S. Census Bureau report, the top 12 emigrant countries to the U.S. were Mexico (173,753), People's Republic of China (87,345), Philippines (74,607), India (61,369), Cuba (45,614), Columbia (43,151), Dominican Republic (38,069), El Salvador (31,783), Vietnam (30,695), Jamaica (24,976), South Korea (24,386), and Guatemala (24,146). This change in population distinctly contrasts with the Western-based cultures in which most U.S. teachers were raised and have lived among most of their lives. Teacher educators generally agree that "it is imperative that we address this culture gap if we are to meet the educational needs of all students" (Marx & Marx, p. 36); however, these teacher educators are typically of the same European, dominant culture as the students that they teach. Providing cross-cultural experiences enables pre-service teachers to uncover their own cultural identities, learn about other cultures, and examine the socio-cultural aspects of education (Cochran-Smith, 2005). Admitting that there are some things better learned outside the control of the faculty can be a challenge. Nevertheless, advocates of international student teaching programs believe that building bridges across cultural boundaries is possible, but will require a high degree of tolerance for ambiguity, and an understanding of the role culture plays in shaping thinking and behavior (Cushner & Brennan, 2007).



The methods that universities have employed when attempting to create multicultural educators are as diverse as the students requiring their attention. "Although these efforts undoubtedly offer some benefit in terms of increasing cultural awareness, they are not sufficiently linked to practice to influence the professional lives of the participating candidates in lasting ways" (Cushner & Brennan, 2007, p. 5). The current study focused on lived experiences abroad, where pre-service teachers exited the cultural comfort zones that most have lived comfortably within, and truly experienced what students may potentially experience in their classes.

International Student Teaching

A review of current literature provided several articles that focused on common traits gained while student teaching abroad. Several of these traits include the student's ability to have improved self-awareness, increased self-efficacy, empathy and respect for individual differences, and culturally diverse teaching strategies. While most of these studies took place in European or Western cultures, parallels can be drawn among and between the values of these experiences. This study ascertained the impact that each trait has on a teacher's ability to effectively teach students in 21st century schools.

Student teaching in other cultures enables teacher candidates to simultaneously strengthen their practices and personally stretch beyond their traditional zone of comfort, while away from support networks provided at home, in school, or by friends, and to develop interpersonal relationships with host nationals. Opportunities exist for student teachers to broaden their cultural knowledge, develop a global perspective, and increase their understanding of the values of multicultural education through interaction with children,



professionals, and adults from varying cultural backgrounds (Cushner & Brennan, 2007). International student teaching is becoming increasingly popular as universities recognize the value in encouraging such programs, and student teachers seek out these opportunities to become culturally proficient both personally and professionally.

Merryfield (1997) posited that, in order "to achieve cross-cultural understanding, one must develop an understanding of one's own heritage and the role of one's own culture in the world's system" (p. 9). In traditional student teaching experiences, pre-service teachers generally focus on becoming acquainted with the children they are teaching and best practices in the classroom. However, when student teaching in an international setting, preservice teachers encounter an additional, and often times an unexpected challenge to understand one's own cultural identity and value systems. Stachowski and Brantmeir (2002) suggested that, through cross cultural experiences, teacher education programs can encourage, and, indeed, require student teachers to think more broadly about whom they are and the factors that have influenced their identities. Cross-cultural student teaching offers firsthand comparisons of lifestyles, values, and ways of thinking and doing. These opportunities for critical comparison can result in a clearer sense of the student teachers' own ethnic and cultural identities.

Self-awareness

Universities that provide the opportunity to student teach abroad, typically require a preparatory course on campus prior to the international student teaching experience. Self-awareness is one of the key issues addressed in such a course. Questions are often discussed that enable one to ponder about what it is to be an American as well as seeing oneself as



others see us. This recognition encourages the student teacher to contrast cultural assumptions and values even while still living in their home culture. It is important that student teachers reflect upon these topics prior to leaving home, because the extended immersion experience of these student teachers not only enables, but also forces them to move beyond their comfort zones while living among the culture of the students they are teaching in the classroom. Oftentimes, these student teachers are faced with realities such as being a minority for the first time wherein they cannot return home in the evening to what is known and comfortable.

Zeichner and Hoeft (1996, as cited by Stachowski, 1998) noted, "Completing student teaching in schools serving pupils with cultural backgrounds different from that of perspective teachers is, to many educators, an inadequate preparation for cross cultural teaching, unless these experiences extend out into the community" (p. 1). An example of this could occur when one is student teaching abroad and lives within the community, among the students who are in the classes being taught. While living among the local communities, student teachers begin to recognize differences from the foreign environment they live in and those of the U.S. These contrasts cause self-reflection and raise self-awareness of personal beliefs on community involvement and structures, family values, work ethic and values.

Stachowski and Brantmeier (2002) described a student teacher's reflection of teaching in England: "My time in England has forced me to re-evaluate my understanding of myself and where I come from ... It is a bit difficult to be critical of a lifestyle of which I am a part, and being here has allowed me to remove myself from that lifestyle and examine it" (p. 10). Through self-examination, student teachers begin to form opinions, either positive or negative, about their home culture. Some commonly identify positive aspects of home



culture and a renewed appreciation for many conveniences of home such as the variety of goods provided at the grocery store, traveling on U.S. roads and established traffic laws, policies and attitudes regarding environmental issues (p. 10). In addition, student teachers reflect and raise awareness of their attitudes about U.S. schools. In a study conducted by Stachowski and Brantmeier (2002), student teachers reflected on U.S. schools, noting their enhanced appreciation of U.S. mainstream education as well as the structures, procedures, attitudes, and outcomes of elementary and secondary schools and educators back home. They often remarked that U.S. schools produce more well-rounded individuals, and both teachers and pupils have a greater number of opportunities and resources available to them. Lessons tend to be more creative and stimulating in the U.S., and teachers have better attitudes and are more dedicated. School buildings were also perceived as being larger and cleaner in the U.S.

This appreciation for the home culture is often counter balanced with recognition of some downfalls in U.S. society. The student teacher may encounter some eye-opening experiences and place higher value on foreign policies, customs, or even attitudes. Student teachers are struck with the realization that the pace of life in the U.S. is often overstressed and uptight, with little time set aside for enjoying quality time with family members and close friends; ethnocentrism is prevalent in the U.S. while awareness of the world outside of the U.S. is significantly lacking (Stachowski & Brantmeier, 2002).

Romano (2007) quoted a student teacher in Japan to summarize the self-awareness aspect of international student teaching, noting that the student's cultural awareness has expanded from the classroom into the community. Romano also revealed a heightened consciousness:



I have learned quite a bit in a short time that I have been here. One thing I have noticed most of all is that I have become very aware of myself because of how different I am than those with whom I interact. Before I arrived, I knew this was something that would happen, but I had no idea to what extent it would be. In watching people around me, I see that I differ in my physical appearance, the way I eat, the way I interact with people, the way I stand on the train, and even the way I buy something at the store. (p. 205)

When student teachers think more broadly about who they are and the factors that have influenced their identities, they are better able to understand the dynamics that define the cultural identities of their pupils and use this knowledge to best serve the youth in their classrooms. Additionally, as student teachers compare their home culture with that of their student teaching experience, they begin to develop a clearer sense of their own ethnic and cultural identities, which Zeichner (1996) identified as key characteristics of effective teachers in culturally diverse societies (Stachowski & Brantmeir, p 5).

Increased self-efficacy

Teacher efficacy, commonly demonstrated in teachers with overseas experience, measures the extent that teachers believe their actions will have a positive effect on student achievement. Teachers with strong efficacy tend to assume personal responsibility for making sure their students learn. When these teachers encounter difficulties, they view them as obstacles to be overcome by discovering appropriate teaching methods, not as indicators that students cannot learn. A teacher's willingness to stay with a student in a failing situation is indicative of a teacher's confidence in his or her teaching ability and/or the student's ability to learn (Gibson & Dembo, 1984, p. 570). "Unlike typical study abroad experiences, student teachers abroad are generally on their own, where self-efficacy becomes possible" (Cushner & Brennan, 2007, p.6). Imagine the student teacher who rides a Japanese train to



school daily with the names of train stops written only in Japanese characters, or the student teacher who must barter in a foreign language when purchasing fruits and vegetables at the market each day. Other student teachers may be invited to dinner at a new friend's home only to find that arriving on time is unheard of in that culture. After several weeks of successfully navigating such interactions, the student teacher is likely to have an increased sense of self and, ultimately, believes that there are few goals that cannot be personally achieved if given a chance.

When living abroad, student teachers encounter a variety of new ways to live, eat, socialize, and confront challenges in daily life. For example, while Americans may find value in waking up early in the day to get the most of the day light hours, another culture may value sleeping in, taking afternoon naps, and staying up late. It may be easy to make hasty judgments of such differences in cultures, after living within a new culture for some time, one begins to find value in different ways of living and recognizes that *different* does not equate to *wrong*.

A strong sense of self-efficacy is often recognized as international student teachers typically complete the experience with a heightened sense of confidence. They believe that they have the power to make a difference in the lives of their future U.S. pupils and perceive they are personally able to ensure that their students get a complete education (Stachowski & Brantmeier, 2002). It is their belief in their own abilities that encourages them to take on challenges in the classroom and school environment, be more self-reliant, and advocate for children as they feel that they can personally make a difference in their student's lives and education. Teacher efficacy and empowerment in multicultural education often go hand-inhand with international student teaching. The international experience culminates with the



student teacher feeling confident as a truly multicultural person; thus, competent as a multicultural educator.

Empathy and respect for individual differences

An obvious symbol of respect for differences occurs when student teachers become comfortable within the culture in which they are living that they begin making friends within their new communities. While living abroad, lifelong bonds are frequently formed with people from diverse backgrounds. Oftentimes the challenge of living in a new environment requires an immediate need for trust amongst the surrounding people. People with these kinds of experiences are more likely to seek out greater diversity of friends and maintain those friendships long after the experience together is finished (McMillan & Opem, 2004).

Effective teachers of students who are racially, ethnically, culturally different from themselves have learned how to recognize and build on assets that students bring, interpret students' classroom behavior accurately, contextualize problems students encounter within sociopolitical rather than cultural deficiency analysis, and communicate constructively with adults in student's lives (Villegas, 2008). This is made possible when the teacher has respect for individual differences of the students. In addition, teachers who values diversity are more likely to incorporate multicultural topics into the curriculum they teach. Curriculum choices often include units that incorporate other cultures, environmental problems, compare and contrast cultures, varied transportation systems, second languages, historical artifacts, art, and musical influence from around the world, to name a few.



Culturally diverse teaching strategies

As indicated in a case study conducted by Noordhoff and Kleinfield (1993), white pre-service teachers noted the impact of a semester-long immersion experience in a small indigenous Alaskan community. While this was obviously not an international experience, the culture of the student teachers was vastly different from that of the local community. The student teachers lived in the community and became involved in activities such as sewing and beading groups, local church activities, or cross country skiing. Noordhoff and Kleinfield (1993) videotaped them three times over the semester while they were student teaching. The videotapes showed their progress to shift from teaching as *telling* to teaching as *engaging* the children with culturally relevant knowledge to connect academic knowledge with what the children know (Sleeter, 2008). Native American educator, Cornel Pewewardy (1993, as cited by Ladson-Billings, 2001) asserted that one of the reasons Native American children experience difficulty in schools is that educators traditionally have attempted to insert culture into education, instead of inserting education into the culture.

Student teachers gain culturally relevant knowledge when placed in international settings. While educators must view all students as individuals and be cautious not to form normative assertions, increased exposure to diverse cultures can assist student teachers in recognizing the wide range of cultural values that exist outside of their own culture. If diversity is not identified as cultural differences, differences in values might be misinterpreted and even unintentionally viewed as signs of disrespect. One example wherein a cultural difference may present barriers between the student and the teacher can be found in cultures whereby students are taught that looking an adult in the eyes is a sign of disrespect. A teacher may insist that a student to look at them in the eyes when speaking to them, while



the student may be intentionally and respectfully, avoiding eye contact. Another example is seen in recognizing that certain cultures demonstrate an increased likelihood of lacking self-esteem, thus culturally relevant teaching materials can be used to promote self-esteem of pupils with these cultural backgrounds (Stachowski, 2001). A third example of a cultural misinterpretation is the recognition that, in some cultures, there is a tendency to resist brainstorming as informal discussion are thought to be rude. Finally, it is widely recognized that effective communication for second language learners includes clear and concise directions with more visuals and hands-on activities, while relying on other methods than language (Bryan & Sprague, 1997). These examples, while certainly not encompassing all cultures, serve as suggestions for the increased understanding of culturally relevant teaching practices that can be enhanced as student teachers experiences increased exposure to diverse cultures.

Despite how subject matter might be depicted in a traditional U.S. textbook, norms differ worldwide. My personal experiences living abroad have opened my mind to varying norms, such as: (a) Egyptian neighborhoods are not divided into square blocks; (b) Japanese police officers can be found in small structures on several corners throughout town, as opposed to a centralized downtown police station; and (c) Brazilians eat a large meal at noon, while dinner is a small portion of food served around 10:00 pm. With a variety of cultures represented in U.S. classrooms today, teachers must possess cultural sensitivity while delivering the subject matter to students. For example, when teaching an elementary social studies curriculum, it cannot be assumed that the students in the class will all enter with the same prior knowledge of such topics as neighborhoods, community officials, and typical mealtimes. Oftentimes this cultural understanding cannot be taught, whereas it needs to be



experienced to truly be understood. "You can't play a piano by asking simply to have a look at it. You've actually got to lift the lid and play the keys. How can you get somebody to be a global citizen if they don't actually interact with somebody in another place?" (*Phi Delta Kappan International*, 2008, p. 2).



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY

Qualitative researchers "look at their own lives to see if they can find anything interesting to study" (Esterberg, 2002, p. 26). This study has evolved out of my own life experiences as a student teacher in Cairo, Egypt. I have often reflected upon the impact that living and working in a non-Western culture had on my frame of thinking from that point forward, as I have recognized the many ways in which those experiences shaped me both personally and professionally throughout my teaching career. Today, as a facilitator of similar placements for student teachers in international locations, I am reminded daily of the many challenges and rewards that come with such a lived experience.

The purpose of this interpretivist study was to explore how first year teachers describe the intercultural development and sensitivity that occurred while student teaching in a non-Western culture and the value that those experiences abroad bring to their current classrooms. The focus of the study was to capture the essence of the experiences abroad as perceived and described by the participants, and how those experiences influenced both the tacit and explicit practices in their first year of teaching.

The chapter begins by describing the rationale for using a qualitative approach for this study. Additionally, information is provided regarding epistemological and theoretical perspectives that were used to inform this study as well as methodologies, methods, participant characteristics, trustworthiness, and delimitations and limitations of the study.

Approval to conduct the study was granted by the Office of Research Compliance at Iowa State University before conducting any research involving human subjects. Copies of



communication to the participants are provided in Appendix A. Reflection and interview questions are shown in Appendix B.

Rationale for Use of a Qualitative Approach

Qualitative research was the most appropriate methodology applied in this study as I examined the lived experiences of student teachers as they began their teaching careers and reflected upon their student teaching experiences in non-Western cultures. Eisner (1998) described qualitative considerations in human affairs as a "ubiquitous part of life and manifest themselves whenever we experience the qualities of the environment" (p. 21). He further explained that "experience is what we achieve as those qualitative world, that we *make sense*" (p. 21). Sharing the stories of student teachers provided an opportunity for them to simultaneously make meaning of their experience s as the knowledge gained abroad influenced their current teaching practices. As the primary instrument for data collection and analysis, it was my hope that I would encourage rich description by being adaptive and responsive as the participants described in-depth accounts of their experiences.

The essence of qualitative research is to allow meaning to be socially constructed and interpreted as individuals interact with their world. The meaning can have multiple interpretations and is not fixed, but rather, can change over time (Merriam, 2002). As the primary instrument for data collection, the researcher must try to understand the meaning of social events in context, while considering the subjectivity of human participants as well as the subjectivity of the researcher herself (Esterberg, 2002). The inductive nature of qualitative research provides an avenue for the researcher to gather data, and to build



concepts and themes that might emerge from the data. The method of allowing a situation to speak for itself was described by Eisner (1999) as an emergent focus. In such a situation, the researcher focuses on selected common themes, which become the major object of the researcher's attention.

Epistemology – Constructionism

Epistemology is "the theory of knowledge embedded in the theoretical perspective and thereby in the methodology" (Crotty, 1998, p. 3). It is concerned with the production of knowledge, and essentially it is how we know what we know. Constructionism is the epistemology that was applied in this study. As described by Crotty (1998, p. 8), constructionism is the rejection of one human truth; rather, knowledge, truth, and meaning are described as coming into existence in and out of our engagement with the realities of our world.

When teachers live and teach in communities much like those in which they were raised, they are likely to interact exclusively with cultures that are similar to their own. However, when pre-service teachers choose to complete student teaching abroad, they are also choosing to immerse themselves in communities in which they are unfamiliar and typically uncomfortable. This new environment often provides opportunities for them to gain cultural understanding for the students in their classrooms, as well as cultural sensitivity as they experience the realities of life as a minority.

Theoretical Perspective – Interpretivism

Interpretive research draws on both phenomenology and symbolic interaction. However, as Merriam (2002) stated, it is unique in that it is "interested in (1) how people



interpret their experiences (2) how they construct their worlds and (3) what meaning they attribute to their experiences" (p. 38). While all qualitative research is concerned with constructing meaning, interpretivism looks specifically at how social actors make sense of reality and come to understand the world around them.

In basic interpretive research "the researcher is interested in understanding how participants make meaning of a situation or phenomenon" (Merriam, 2002, p. 6). The researcher inserts herself into the process of making meaning of the participant's accounts of a situation. As posited by constructivism, there is no one true reality; rather, reality can be socially constructed, thereby enabling the researcher the liberty to interpret the participant's words and actions into social explanations of a phenomenon.

Guided by basic interpretive research, this study attempted to explain a human and social reality as interpreted by first-year teachers who completed their student teaching experience in a non-Western culture. By applying data collected through interviews with these first year teachers, "the researcher will inductively analyze the data to identify the recurring patterns or common themes that cut across the data" (Merriam, 2002, p. 7).

Crotty (1998) described the interpretivist approach as one that "looks for culturally derived and historically situated interpretations of the social life-world" (p. 67). The rationale for using the interpretivist approach for this study is closely related to another similar study. Merriam and Muhamed (2002) examined the nature of learning in older adults in the non-Western society of Malaysia. Merriam and Muhamed posited "some might assume, because this study was conducted in a different culture and the concept of cultural values was used to frame the study and interpret the data, that this is an ethnographic study" (p. 38). It may be assumed that the current study is ethnographic in nature because of the



cultural experiences that impacted the novice teachers being studied. Elements of ethnography are infused within Merriam and Muhamed's study as well as this study; however, a true ethnographic study would necessitate an extended stay in another cultural at the time the research is conducted. Additionally, a full socio-cultural interpretation of the data would be expected in ethnography. Neither an extended cultural experience nor a sociocultural interpretation were present in this study. Nevertheless, in basic interpretivist fashion, attention focused on how first year teachers perceived the cultural competencies gained during their experiences abroad and how those perceptions currently shaped their lives, both personally and professionally.

Interpretivism is also closely linked with Max Weber's *verstehen* approach, "whereby understanding meaning and intentionality is emphasized over and above casual explanations" (Prasad, 2005, p. 14). With its German roots, *verstehen* does not translate literally to English, but has come to be loosely synonymous with "understanding" within the realm of qualitative research. Weber argued that social sciences are concerned with understanding, which is uniquely different from natural sciences which deal with explanations. Within the contextual boundaries of social science, *verstehen* is not limited to rule governed methods of explanations, but rather the interpretive understandings of human actions. This study utilized Bennett's Developmental Model for Intercultural Sensitivity (DMIS) to understand the perceptions of the participants that were described in Chapter 1.

Verstehn enabled the researcher in this study to look beyond prescribed rules for interpretations. Rather, the research constructs new understandings of how the participants perceive and interpret their experiences abroad and its relevance to their first year of teaching, as they employ culturally competent pedagogy. There is no current explanation for



these perceptions that exist. This study aimed to create and understand that which was not understood in previous studies.

Methodology – Phenomenology

Lived experiences for groups of individuals are at the heart of phenomenological studies. Phenomenological researchers seek the central, underlying meaning of an experience and emphasize the intentionality of consciousness where experiences contain both the outward appearance and in the inward consciousness based on memory, image, and meaning (Creswell, 1998).

By temporarily suspending all judgment of what is known, phenomenological studies require the researcher to "bracket" prejudgments and experiences. Phenomenology asks the researcher "to engage with the phenomena in our world and make sense of them directly and immediately" (Crotty 1998, p. 79). Through the use of bracketing, the researcher lets the experience or phenomena speak first hand, while attempting to "recover a fresh perception of existence, one unprejudiced by acculturation" (Sadler, 1969, p. 377). Crotty (1996) purported that phenomenology allows us to set aside, as best we can, the prevailing understandings of phenomena and revisit our immediate experience of them, possibilities for new meaning emerge for us or we witness at least an authentication and enhancement of former meaning.

As the researcher in this study, I bracketed my own opinions as a former participant in the experiences that I studied. While there are a multitude of ways in which my experiences living and working in a non-Western culture have shaped who I am today, these



experiences were bracketed as I sought the meaning that the participants have constructed from their own unique and individual experiences.

A final key component of a phenomenological study is the intentionality of consciousness. Consciousness is directed toward an object; it is consciousness of something and, therefore, the object cannot be separated or described apart from the person. Reality of an object, therefore, is inextricably related to one's consciousness. Through this intentionality of consciousness, the reality of an object is only perceived with the meaning of the experience of an individual (Creswell, 1998, p. 53). Phenomenology, as the methodological approach applied in this study enabled me as the researcher to explain and understand the experiences of first year teachers who completed their student teaching abroad. Their experiences in non-Western cultures will be probed and allow the participants perceptions to become reality. The meaning of their experiences will be given an underlying structure and therefore I, as the researcher, can better understanding what it means for someone to have similar experiences as the participants.

Research Design

Participants

Qualitative research is interested in gaining a deep understanding of a small number of specified cases. When conducting qualitative research, there is greater interest in depth than in breadth, as the intent is not to produce generalizable results that can be applied to a larger population. According to Creswell (1998), the participants must "be individuals who have experienced the phenomenon being explored and can articulate their conscious experiences" (p. 111). The participants in this study were selected through purposive



sampling in which I intentionally sampled the research participants for the specific perspectives they may exhibit (Esterberg, 2002).

In recent years I have worked closely with numerous pre-service teachers who completed their student teaching experience abroad. Because this study focused specifically on non-Western experiences as well as first-year teachers, there were a limited number of eligible participants. Participants in this study were limited to recent graduates from the same Midwestern university who had completed their student teaching experience in a non-Western culture and had already accepted teaching positions for the current school year.

As contracts and teaching positions were still uncertain at the time of the study, I had not located the desired eight to ten participants that I had hoped to find. Five participants expressed interest in being part of this study. These five participants were Caucasian and female, as is common in the teaching profession. Two candidates graduated with majors in secondary teaching; one in elementary education and one in art education. Their student teaching experiences were completed in American schools located in Egypt, Singapore, Thailand, and two in Brazil. Each had accepted a teaching position and was to begin her career in the academic year 2011-2012. Two accepted teaching position at public schools in the United States and two accepted positions at private American schools overseas. Of those staying in the U.S., one was planning to teach in Kansas, while the other would be teaching in Minnesota. Of those who were to return to overseas schools, one was planning to teach in Singapore and the other in India.



Methods

Qualitative methodology was employed as a framework for this study. Data gathering methods included: (a) a demographic survey of participants; (b) in-depth interviews pertaining to their experiences abroad and teaching practices; (c) in-depth followup discussion questions that further investigate the strands that arose from the initial interview; (d) artifacts, including lesson plans and curricular documents; and (e) semistructured blog kept throughout their first year of teaching.

Demographics

Prior to conducting the interviews, demographic information was gathered on each participant in the study. The participants completed their student teaching experience in a non-Western culture and were currently in their first year of teaching. Due to the nature of this study and its interest in cultural competencies, the participants were asked to report personal characteristics such as ethnicity, and native language. Participants were also asked to respond to questions specific to the demographics of both the school where they student taught and the districts in which they were currently teaching. The district demographics included questions about the total student population, ethnicity of students, and languages spoken by the student body. With a limited number of participants, the responses are not intended to be generalizable to a larger population but, rather, to inform the literature of these individual experiences.

Phenomenological interviews

Participants were asked in face-to-face or Skype interviews to describe in detail their student teaching experiences in a non-Western culture. These questions were asked to



generate insights as to the participant's perceptions of the meaning and values placed on the international student teaching experience. Seidman (2006) recommended that phenomenological interviews occur in three phases; however, due to the pre-existing relationship between the researcher and the participants, this study combined the recommended first and second interviews. In Seidman's recommended first interview, the researcher established the context of the experience by exploring the life history of the participant. The second interview concentrated on the details of the participant's lived experiences both in the non-Western culture as well as in the first year of teaching. Since I was already familiar with each participant's background and the context of their student teaching experience, it seemed logical to combine these two phases.

The third phase, or second interview, asked the participants to reflect on the meaning of their experiences and how it impacted their first year of teaching. Seidman (2006) described "meaning", not as one of satisfaction or reward but, rather, as the "intellectual and emotional connections between the participants' work and life" (p. 18). Seidman continued to explain that making meaning requires that the participants look at how the factors in their lives interacted to their present situation. It is the combination of exploring the past to clarify the present, and describing the concrete details of their present experience that establishes conditions for reflecting upon their current teaching.

All three phases of the interview are important. It is through the process of reconstructing the details of their student teaching experiences, selecting stories from their past and imparting meaning upon those stories that the participants will construct meaning of the experiences.



Each participant was interviewed a minimum of two times. The interviews were conducted in 90-minute sessions, allowing adequate time for participants to reconstruct their experiences and put them into context of their lives to reflect on the meaning (Seidman, p. 20). Interview questions were semi-structured to enable other questions to emerge during the interviewing. The semi-structured nature of the interviews enables additional ideas to be explored while providing opportunity for rich and thick descriptions. Semi-structured interviews explore topics more openly and enable the participants to express their opinions and ideas in their own words. Esterberg, (2002) posited that semi-structured interviews allow the researcher to "move beyond our own experiences and ideas and really understand the other person's point of view" (p. 87). It is expected that the researcher has some basic understandings about the topic being discussed and the responses to the questions will shape the order and structure of the interview.

With permission, the interviews were voice recorded to allow voice intonation and other impressions not possible through written responses only. Responses were transcribed, analyzed, and open-coded to detect emerging themes. Use of open coding enables the researcher to work line by line through the data while identifying any possible themes that seem to emerge. Pre-established codes are avoided to ensure the researcher is not searching for what *ought* to be there, causing the oversight of what actually *is* there (Esterberg, 2002).

Open-coding is used to analyze for recurring themes and focused-coding is used once there are no additional emerging themes. When the same codes are being found repeatedly, the researcher narrows in on themes that seem particularly relevant and which may have the most significance when analyzed. Focused coding also enables the researcher to generate in depth follow-up discussion questions. As is common in basic interpretive research, the



overall interpretation will be the researcher's understanding, mediated by the researcher's perspective, of the participants' understanding of the phenomenon being studied (Merriam, p. 38).

In addition to conducting interviews, participants were asked to contribute to a mutually accessible blog to enable them to respond to posted and guiding questions, similar to the interview questions. The blog format was used to provide a more on-going and detailed report of the participants' stories. Blogging enabled the participants to contribute on their own timeframe as opposed to a pre-determined and scheduled time. The same structure used to analyze the interview data was also applied to analyze the blog data.

As participants engaged in lesson design, they were asked to submit samples of their lesson plans to demonstrate their work in the classroom and the implementation of possible meaning made from their experiences. For example, if a participant described an increased respect for diverse learners in the classroom, their lesson plans were considered as representative of this construct. If the students read a chapter on communities in a U.S. textbook and the teacher/participant recognizes that the community in the given location is unique from that which is described in the chapter, the teacher may adapt the lesson to represent the local community and ask students to create a Venn Diagram illustrating similarities and differences.

Through demographic survey questions, in-depth interviews, blog records, and artifacts, this study sought to make meaning of the experiences that the participants had in non-Western cultures. Further explorations sought to answer how these experiences served as a catalyst for deepening the participants understanding of teaching and learning in their first year of teaching.



Data Analysis

In qualitative research, analyzing the data is an on-going process which entails several steps. Creswell (2009) recommended utilizing six steps for analyzing data:

- 1. Organize and Prepare the data for analysis;
- Read through all of the data to gain a general sense of the information and its overall meaning;
- Begin the coding process of organizing the material into chunks of text before bringing meaning to the information;
- 4. Use the coding process to generate a description of the setting or people as well as the categories or themes for analysis;
- 5. Advance how the description and themes will be represented in the qualitative narrative to convey the findings; and
- 6. Make an interpretation of the data by asking "what are the lessons learned?"

As the researcher continues to peel back the many layers that are represented in the data, deeper understandings and new interpretations of the data are uncovered.

Trustworthiness

Multiple strategies can and should be implemented to ensure trustworthiness and validity of the research being conducted. According to Creswell (2009), there are eight primary strategies for assuring accuracy of findings. Although I did not employ all eight strategies, I applied the four most frequently used strategies: triangulation, member checking, rich and thick description, and clarifying the biases of the researcher.



Triangulation requires the researcher to use more than one data collection strategy. I did not reply solely on interview responses, nor did I rely solely on lesson plans. It is not uncommon for responses provided in interview questions to be asynchronous with their actions. For example, a participant may tell me that they have gained respect for other cultures, yet their lesson plans may demonstrate disrespect or ignorance. Credibility is gained through the convergence of several data sources.

Member checking involves conducting follow-up conversations with participants to share themes or final reports with them. This provides them the opportunity to comment on the findings. After I reviewed all of the data, I separated it into themed categories. Then I brought these fairly polished products back to my participants to ensure that it generally represented their perceptions as well.

Rich, thick description is commonly referred to in qualitative studies as it provides the depth of understanding that is necessary in this type of research. The more detailed the participant is in their description, the more realistic the findings become.

As I have stated previously, because I brought my own particular biases to this study, self-reflected to create an honest narrative describing how the interpretations that I provide in this study are shaped by my background and engagement with international student teaching. This, in combination with triangulation, member checking and rich, thick description, will add to the trustworthiness of this study.

Delimitations

The study was limited in scope and consciously excluded any potential participants not meeting the defined boundaries. This study sought to examine the experiences of



student teaching experiences in non-Western cultures, and was specifically delimited to participants who had done so in the academic year prior to the study being conducted. Additionally, this study was delimited to participants who had also obtained first year teaching positions in the same year this study was conducted. All participants in this study were graduates of the same Midwestern teacher preparation program and may not be representative of other graduates from other programs across the country.

As a qualitative study, the results are not generalizable to other circumstances. Each student teaching experience is unique, as is each teacher education program; therefore, several variables contribute to the distinct characteristics of this particular study.

Limitations

A limiting factor in this study was the size of the participant pool, as there are not a great number of pre-service teachers who choose to student teach in non-Western cultures. Fortunately, all qualifying potential participants, agreed to be part of the study, providing this study with five willing participants. All participants in this study self-selected to student teach in a non-Western culture. One must consider the possibility that pre-service teachers who choose to complete student teaching in a culture unique from their own may be pre-dispositional to display many of the characteristics attributed to the experience abroad. It is possible that any cultural sensitivity noted, may have been present in the novice teachers regardless of the student teaching location.

Additionally, all participants in this study were supervised by the researcher during their student teaching. While the research felt that a positive rapport and trusting relationship had been developed, it should be noted that the portion of the data that was collected from the



student teaching experience had been written at a time when the students were being graded for their work.

Finally, as is true with any human respondents, it is assumed that all responses by the participants were honest and without fabrication or embellishment. This study is rich with details of the lived experiences of the participants, and therefore it is assumed that their stories are truthful.

Summary

The chapter outlined the methodologies, design, and methods that were employed in this study. A description and rationale were given to explain the use constructionism as the epistemological approach in the study. Furthermore, interpretivism and phenomenology were described, respectively, as the theoretical perspective and methodology in this study. The design for this study was selected to illuminate how first year teachers describe the intercultural development and sensitivity that occurred while student teaching in a non-Western culture and the value that those experiences abroad bring to their current classrooms. Chapter 4 will present the results of the study as voiced by the participants and the themes that emerged.



CHAPTER 4. RESULTS

The initial results of this study are presented in chapter 4. This chapter presents a brief description of the participants' backgrounds, and their experiences with diversity prior to student teaching as well as their student teaching locations. Next, reflections from the participants' first day of student teaching are described and analyzed. Finally, the participants' final reflections are presented and analyzed. When presenting the final reflections, the findings are organized by the guided questions that the participants were asked to address regarding the impact of their experiences at the conclusion of their student teaching experiences. Direct remarks from the participants are woven throughout this chapter in effort to represent and better depict their experiences

Profile of the Participants

The participants were purposefully selected to take part in this study. Purposive sampling enabled the researcher to select participants who met the criteria for the study. Each participant was required to have student taught in a non-Western culture in the year prior to this study being conducted. The participants were also required to serve as first-year teachers at the time the study was being conducted. This section provides a demographic depiction of the participants before and during student teaching. Pseudonyms were used to provide confidentiality and anonymity regarding the participants.

Alissa

Alissa was raised in, what she described as, a "bedroom community" to a university town of less than 60,000 people. The town itself had no stoplights and was surrounded by farmland. When asked to describe the diversity that existed within her community, there was



little to speak of with the exception of two foreign exchange students in her high school whom she befriended. College exposed her to an increasingly diverse student population, although the university she attended was also attended predominated by white students.

Alissa first began to consider Study Abroad programs during her freshman year. She described her interest as stemming from a desire to *"really experience another culture, beyond just traveling through it."* With the understanding that her college offered international student teaching, she initially expressed interest in student teaching in an English-speaking country. However, having had several friends in college who spoke highly of their own travels throughout South America, she chose to student-teach in Brazil. Alissa completed her student teaching in a privately operated Pre-kindergarten through 12th grade school located in the capital city of Brasilia. The school catered to the needs of Americans, Brazilians, and students from multiple other nationalities. Over half of the students at the school were Brazilian nationals; less than 20% were American students, while the remaining students represented approximately 45 different nationalities. Alissa student taught in both 1st and 2nd grade classrooms. She is now teaching third grade in a public school in the Midwest of the U.S.



Amanda

Although her family moved several times throughout her schooling, all of Amanda's childhood was spent in rural communities within the same Midwestern state. Amanda described the schools as "not extremely diverse in terms of race or religion." She went on to say, "I know there's a lot of ways to measure diversity, but my schools were predominantly Caucasian students. I could count on my hands the other ethnicities. Students were from the same Christian belief background. So quite a bit of continuity in the schools I grew up in." However, even with the little diversity that existed, Amanda contended that she had interacted with people from a more diverse background. She attributed these interactions to teams that she played on and also her interest in learning Spanish, beginning in high school and accelerating in college when Spanish became a passion.

While in college, Amanda found herself involved in several diverse student groups on campus, namely with Saudi Arabian students. Amanda illuminated her interest in the Saudi culture by explaining:

I wanted to get to know where they were from. I was good friends with a lot of them and I wanted to see how they grew up, and what made them who they were. I was really curious to learn about Islam, to be honest. In the States, there is such a negative perception toward that part of the world. I kind of wanted to go to see for myself.

She continued, "I was just really craving that experience... hands-on, eye-witness kind of experience."

Although her first choice was to student teach in Saudi Arabia, Amanda's student teaching coordinator encouraged her to consider Egypt instead, as the university had a longstanding relationship with several schools there. With a major in Art Education, Amanda completed her student teaching in Cairo, Egypt at an independent coeducational day school



that offered an education program for pre-kindergarten through grade 12. The school had a strong fine arts program, which particularly appealed to Amanda. Among an enrollment of approximately 1,400 students, nearly half were U.S. citizens. The remaining students were Egyptian nationals or other nationalities. Amanda shared her time between the elementary, middle level and high school art teachers. She is currently teaching intermediate level art in a private American school in Mumbai, India, and is engaged to marry a man of Indian decent, whom she met in India.

Darci

Like the other participants, Darci described her hometown as small, rural, and lacking in diversity, "with only a handful of students who were non-white." After high school, she studied at a small liberal arts college that had greater cultural diversity although her interactions with diverse groups were limited. An educational excursion to the Caribbean during her sophomore year sparked an interest in various cultures. During her graduate studies, Darci became involved with a non-profit organization as she tutored immigrants who were preparing for the U.S Citizen and Immigration Services (USCIS) test to become citizens and practicing conversational English with English language learners at the university.

Having heard numerous positive reports from her peers who had studied abroad during their college years, Darci never wavered in her dreams to student-teach abroad. She student taught at a day and boarding school that was established in 2001 and whose grounds extended to over 100 acres of land. Nearly 100 boarding students lived on campus, and over 400 students attended the day school. Slightly less than half of the students were full or part



Thai, with the remaining comprised of 35 other nationalities. Darci is now teaching high school biology in a large metropolitan school district in the Midwestern U.S.

Jacey

Jacey was raised in a town of fewer than 3,000 people. She described religious affiliations to be the extent of the diversity in the community in which she was raised, stating that there were "essentially three big churches in town: Lutheran, Methodist, and Catholic. It was basically a farming community where everybody knows everybody type of place." Her surroundings changed slightly when she went to college, as she described: "I visually saw more diversity in terms of different races, but in terms of what I essentially was exposed to, meaning who I actually hung out with and talked to and who I interacted with...No, there was not that big of a difference in college."

She was initially attracted to this university because of its vast Study Abroad program; however, as a college athlete, it was challenging to commit to a semester away from her team and training. Therefore, Jacey considered international student teaching as the perfect opportunity to combine Study Abroad with a required semester of coursework. She had long dreamed of seeing more of the world but, more importantly, she considered Study Abroad as an opportunity to prepare for her upcoming career as an educator. Jacey remarked, *"What caught my attention was the diversity that I would be faced with in the classroom. And that's something that obviously, I hadn't really had."* Describing herself as a firm believer in multi-cultural education, she went on to describe a passion for exposing students to different points of views: *"I teach English, so for me, different authors from*



different backgrounds, cultures and what not. Now that I think of it, perhaps I had that desire because I wasn't given that as a kid."

Jacey credited one small unit in her high school AP English class for exposing her to authors from different cultures. As she recalled this awakening Jacey stated, "*I never considered that there was literature outside of white American male and a few female authors that I read in high school. And in that one unit, I was like 'oh my gosh, how small town am I?' and it got me hooked.*"

Jacey completed her student teaching in a high school English classroom, in the citystate of Singapore. This private school is one of the largest American International schools in the world, and serves a diverse learning community of more than 3,800 students from more than 50 countries in grades pre-kindergarten through grade 12. Jacey was hired as an English teacher at the same school where she student taught.

Janelle

Janelle grew up in a rural, farming community and graduated in a class of 37 students. With the exception of an occasional foreign exchange student and two students with African ancestry students, Janelle had very few interactions with diverse groups of people until she entered college. While in college, she lived in a dormitory that also housed the international students, allowing her the opportunity to meet several students from other countries although she still described her college years as being surrounded by mostly Caucasian students.

Janelle's passion for international travel was ignited when she participated in a university program as a summer camp counselor on a military base in Okinawa, Japan.



Through this summer camp she realized that her dream was to teach overseas, and the best road to pursuing that dream was to student-teach overseas. Like Alissa, Janelle student taught at the same privately operated Pre-kindergarten through 12th grade school located in the capital city of Brasilia, Brazil. The school catered to the needs of Americans, Brazilians, and students from multiple other nationalities. Over half of the students at the school were Brazilian nationals, less than 20% were American, and the remaining represented approximately 45 different nationalities. Janelle spent the first half of her student teaching experience working with elementary Art students, and the second half with secondary Art students. Her experience student teaching with the International Baccalaureate (IB) curriculum in Brazil contributed significantly to Janelle being hired as an IB art teacher in the only IB school located in her home state in the Midwestern U.S.

Themes Emerging from Student Teaching Reflections – Day 1

Throughout the student teaching semester, participants were required to submit reflections periodically. The initial reflection did not require the participants to answer direct questions but, rather, asked them to generally describe, react, and reflect upon their student teaching environment. Two themes emerged from the Day 1 reflections: (a) a welcoming environment; and (b) professional dedication. The final reflection asked specific questions which are described in greater detail later in this chapter. Multiple themes emerged from the responses that each participant gave to the final reflection question. For the purposes of this study, only their first and final reflections were analyzed for emerging themes.



Welcoming environment

Upon arriving at their international destinations, the participants explicitly expressed the welcoming hospitality that warmly greeted each of them. This was described both in the context of the local people in and among the community as well as the school community. More than one participant described the methods of expressing affection, even from strangers similarly: "...when you meet someone, you inevitably hug and kiss both cheeks. People are much more likely to break each other's personal bubble during a conversation, with a gentle touch on the arm, or holding hands."

From the onset of their experiences, the participants were immediately invited into people's homes for dinners and asked to join groups on excursions in the local area. They were even catered to during their mundane daily tasks as willing volunteers assisted them with language barriers in transportation and the purchasing of goods. Although seemingly surprised by such *"truly extravagant"* generosity, Jacey captured the initial welcome as one that she could become easily accustomed to: *"I feel like I could really embrace this country and all its new and exciting lessons it has to teach me."* She went on to tell of the honest and accepting individuals from all different backgrounds that made up the country.

Darci described both her diverse living and working environments as "welcoming and free of judgment." If countries can be summarized by the actions of its people, these participants clearly felt from their first day that they were warmly welcomed into their new cultural environments. As one participant so eloquently expressed, "*I can learn a lot about how they place their priorities. Tasks, to-do lists and schedules should never trump people.*"



Professional dedication

The second theme that emerged throughout the initial reflections was that of awe and amazement toward the professional dedication of the teachers, and the unique teaching practices that were before them. Although most were still struggling with jet lag, the participants undeniably recognized the distinct teaching practices that would soon become familiar. In addition to the multiple languages, religions and nationalities represented in the classes, the student teachers experienced a variety of new programs and teaching tactics as well. Further descriptions of these tactics are provided in Chapter 5. Being from Iowa, a state comprised of only one International Baccalaureate (IB) school, the student- teachers had not previously visited a school with an IB curriculum. Nevertheless, three of the five participants were student- teaching in schools with this diploma program. In addition to the IB curriculum, Amanda was exposed to her cooperating teacher's *"silent teaching method,"* implemented partially in effort to overcome her own dyslexia, but also to provide for the varying needs of her students. *"Watching it in action seemed so incredibly daunting. Of course the pros always make it look easy; we'll see how it goes when I give it a shot!"*

Amanda characterized the classes as "a melting pot of nationalities" with students having "unique ethnic backgrounds that influence what they know." While describing her school as "amazing", Amanda went on to say that "this overused adjective does not do it justice; the quality of the teachers, the level of work ethic and the dedication to being on the leading edge in the classroom is unlike anything I have ever seen."

Similarities were drawn between the host culture that encapsulated the student teachers and the schools environments where they spent their first day of student teaching. *"While this country is very open and accepting to all people, so is [this school]."*



Distinctions cannot be clearly drawn between the school and the culture as what happens in the school operates as a *"reflection of the country itself"* (Alissa). In Jacey's first day reflection, she described how the country she was living in also impacted her hopes and future actions as an educator:

In the short while that I have been in Singapore, including my first day at this school, I have learned that this is a very unique country; it's almost as if the country changes each person that lives or visits here into exemplary world citizens. From the locals to the vacationers, and finally the students, parents, and teachers at this school, Singapore is full of honest and accepting individuals from all different backgrounds. From what I've experienced so far, I plan on using this consistent message of honesty, trust and openness within my classroom not only during my student teaching, but also in my future classrooms. I will embody an accepting and trustworthy attitude with all my students and colleagues in order to portray the type of behavior that I expect in return.

One might expect that, upon arriving in a non-Western culture with language barriers and distinct traditions, these student teachers may have felt overwhelmed or even described elements of culture shock. Not one student teacher expressed any difficulties or frustrations as they assimilated into the new environment. Their first day reflections depicted nothing but jubilation, acceptance, and a warm welcome into their new homes.

Final Student Teaching Reflections Based on the Research Questions

The remainder of this chapter focuses on the student teaching experiences of the participants based on their final reflections written at the conclusion of their student teaching semester in a non-Western culture. The findings illuminate the student teachers' responses to four primary research questions:

1. How do first year teachers describe the intercultural development that occurs while student teaching in a non-Western culture? The first question asks participants to



consider their mindset at the completion of their student teaching experience as it compared to the beginning of their experience.

- 2. How does student teaching in a non-Western culture bring value to the first year teacher's classroom? This question primarily addresses the actual teaching skills gained throughout their experience, specifically focusing on diverse strategies that may be considered unique in a typical U.S. classroom.
- 3. What role does student teaching in a non-Western culture have on the tacit and explicit practices used in a first year teacher's classroom? This question reflects on the personal impact that the experience had on the participant.
- 4. How do personal influences in a non-Western culture impact student teaching and, ultimately, the first year teacher's students? The last question asks participants to reflect upon the anticipated professional outcomes of an international student teaching experience.

Question 1. How has student teaching abroad influenced your mindset (as a teacher or in general)?

Commonalities among participants

Two themes became apparent as the participants discussed the influences of student teaching abroad on their mindset. Those two themes were (1) professional relationships and collabortation; and (2) enthusiasm for teaching.

Professional relationships & collaboration

All five participants mentioned professional relationships in some capacity. Amanda described the professionally-minded faculty with years of experience as important factors



contributing to her growth as an educator, while Jacey portrayed an environement rich with collaboration as an incentive to take more risks in the classroom. Janelle described collaboration as a source of encouragement to provide a better education for her students. Jacey celebrates the impact that the experiences has had on her mindset, not only for the immediate semester, but for the future as well:

During my student teaching semester [abroad] I have grown both personally and professionally. From the endless collaboration with colleagues to the many opportunities for reflection through "talks" with my cooperating teacher, I have developed into the educator I've always wanted to be. Working with the faculty, as well as the students at SAS has changed the way I view teaching. SAS provided me with an environment where learning and taking risks in the classroom is not only accepted, but celebrated.

The collaboration and professional relationships mentioned were not limited only to the cooperating teachers assigned to mentor them, but was extended to include school faculty, colleagues and people from outside of the school walls as well.

Enthusiasm for Teaching

Enthusiasm for teaching was expressed explicitly by four of the five participants.

While one confirmed that she had, indeed, made the right decision in choosing the teaching

profession, another described the experince as incredible, and expressed excitement for the

opportunity to be exposed to various cultures and teaching diverse populations of students.

After a year of anticipation, Amanda recalled how much she appreciated working with children:

Being at the university immersed in classes and textbooks for four years can really tend to surround you and submerge you but this experience helped me break back into the joy of teaching, the hands on, face to face interactions that I as an educator thrive on.



Additionally, Jacey discussed her excitement for teaching in the context of both student teaching and her upcoming career as a teacher. When noting the location of her student teaching and the diversity within the student body, her enthusiasm was not only for the profession, but for the values that she hoped to instill in her students.. She stated, "*My experience with student teaching has only made me more enthusiastic about helping my future students to become life-long learners who are constantly striving to stretch their knowledge and perspective of the world around them.*"

Question 2. What unique skills have you gained while student teaching abroad?

Overwhelmingly, the participants responded to this question with a new level of appreciation for diversity. Although Amanda had an extensive travel history prior to student teaching, she summarized the impressions of the diverse student body by stating, *"Working at an international school has shown me a whole new definition of diversity."*

Exposure to multiple nationalities & unique perspectives

Exposure to multiple nationalities was unparalleled to anything that the participants had experienced in their home state. One participant remarked, "*Never in Iowa had I worked with a group of 16 students representing nine separate nationalities*", while another participant reiterated this point stating the following:

Now, depending on where one teaches in the United States, this could be part of life already, but as far as my experience goes, this is the first time that I have taught this many students in one class speaking English as a second language

Jacey, who addmittedly had limited expereinces with diverse cultures prior to student teaching, discussed the overwhelming impact that this new view has offered her:



During my semester abroad I encountered a lot of different perspectives in each of my classes as well as in my social life. All the different cultures and worldviews my students brought to each class really opened my eyes to the different points of view that students from all around the world may have. In any given class I would have questions thrown at me that I had never really considered because I was unaware of that perspective.

She further addressed the unique perspective this expereinces provided with the

following description:

This is unique to my experience teaching in Singapore because had I stayed in Iowa I would have been in classes full of students with similar worldviews as myself. However, in saying this I'm not implying that those worldviews are necessarily narrow or close-minded, just that a student from India sharing their insights and perspectives in class will have a very different approach then a student from a small town in Iowa.

When reflecting on the various cultures, languages, social classes and other various

dynamics impacting any diverse classroom, Alissa made a vaulable point; "As the classroom

teacher, I had to find a way to lead all these students into a cohesive classroom community.

Whether I am in Brasilia or Iowa, these are challenges that all schools face."

An interesting final point in relation to exposure to diverse cultures was an increased

cognizance of this worldview and its impact on personal judgments. As one participant

became more aware of her previously limited scope on the world, she recognized that her

judgments of situations may have also been limited in scope. She expressed that in future

interactions she will be differently able to assess a situation based on increased life

experiences.

Second language speakers necessitated differentiated instruction

Participants gave extensive responses that revealed an increased ability to embrace and teach to diverse student needs within the classroom setting. They disclosed acquiring a



wider set of skills to accommodate the varying needs of their students. Amanda elaborated on the impact that such a diverse student population had on the culture of the classroom:

I have seen (and admire) the use of multiple languages in a classroom and many of the students have a very global perspective of the world due to their third culture upbringing. ESL students were very common, and it really helped me to improve my communication by using multiple ways to describe one item or process for the students to better understand, as well as visuals.

While some participants expressed a new ability to incorporate multiple points of view due to the wide range of culture represented in the classroom, others discussed visual representations to accommodate second language learners. Although Janelle was student who taught on a different continent, her experience was remarkably similar to Amanda's. Janelle described the impact that the multi-lingual students had on classroom dynamics as well as the modes of instruction:

I have gained the ability to alter the delivery of my speech to different students and different classes due to language barriers. In any one of the classes I taught, one could hear at least three different languages being spoken at one time. All students know English, but some students hold it as a second or third language, so altering the delivery of my lessons was a useful tool to capture the attention and allow for understanding of all students. I used many visuals and developed handouts to aid this. I showed the steps to every lesson I did, as part of producing visuals.

Darci expressed the importance of vocabulary when teaching students who do not speak English as a native lanugage. With an increased attention to language, Darci learned that there is a vast difference between asking a question which illicits a one-word response versus an open-ended question which requires a student to define or describe an idea or issue. This firsthand experience enabled her to recognize the confusion that can exist when using different dialects of the English language or when conversing with those who speak another primary language. This caused her to focus additional attention on vocabulary acquisition as a basis for understanding content knowledge.



Living in a foreign community, as well as teaching students of varying culutres,

necessitates an ability to assimilate. This held true both in the neighborhoods in which these participants lived, as well as in the schools where they were student teaching. In addition to varying insructional techniques, participants also discussed not only a need, but also a desire to adapt to the other cultures in unpredictable or unexpected situations:

Along with the readiness to accept all new things comes the ability to adapt quickly to your surroundings. Because of my teaching overseas I have developed the ability to learn my environment and take the necessary steps to assimilate quickly. In terms of my school life and the teaching skills I've gained through this, I am now much more equipt to jump into a teaching team or curriculum, which may be new to me, and be successful in implementing myself as a part of the group.

When comparing her home culture and upbring with the student teaching location,

Jacey explained her new persepective:

While this may be the case in all new schools or teams I join, I feel that being in Singapore has taught me how to do this successfully without putting labels on the experience (e.g. "good" or "bad"). Therefore, in my teaching this has helped me to look at new methods and strategies as different, not any better or worse than what I learned in college or in my field experiences.

Ultimately, the participants had direct contact and built meaningful relationships with

students and colleagues from various cultures while expanding their understanding not only

of the world but also of teaching. Amanda summed her experience up by stating, "I would

say I learned just as much about the world from my students as they did from me."

Question 3. How has student teaching abroad influenced you personally?

The theme throughout these responses depicts a new-found awareness or a new lens in which the participants are able to view themselves. As they were introduced to an outsider's perspective, the participants recognized new views on their home culture, personal value, and characteristics. Additionally, daily interactions in the non-Western cultures



resulted in a surprising awareness of their own biases, preferences, stereotypes, and assumptions. Because each participant specifically elaborated on the personal growth and awareness, this question will be broken down as elaborated upon by each participant.

Self-awareness

Amanda. Perhaps Amanda's description of herself as an Egyptian was the most revealing sign of how intimately she immersed herself into the culture during her student teaching experience. She answered this question in Arabic, stating, "*Ana Masria*" [I am Egyptian]. She gave an ellaborate explanation of the significance of this phrase:

While this statement is incredibly inaccurate, it conveys how I feel personally here. I have developed a life in Cairo that includes very dear friends and families. I worked hard at picking up the Arabic language and that challenge alone of learning a new language (without instruction) (while student teaching) (in a completely new country), had a profound affect on me personally.

In addition to gaining a new culture, Amanda also came to appreciate her own native culture

by stepping away from it:

Being in Egypt specifically has enabled me to reflect on home and the things I love (and miss) such as clean air and green grass, but also see the value in living in the midst of such an ancient civilization. It has opened my eyes to this half of the world too, literally.

Amanda also came to the humbling realization that, although she perceived herself as well

traveled with a global view of the world, there were many cultures that she had not yet

expereinced:

I believe I came into this experience with a fairly worldly, conscientious view of humanity but it was such an incredible experience just to meet my students and the other teachers who have seen so many other countries and lived in so many other cultures that showed me that I'm just at the tip of the iceburg when it comes to understanding this whole world.



Additionally, she opened her mind to the idea of visiting places that had not previously intrigued her:

Before this trip I had little interest in living or working in Asia, but now (perhaps that I am closer, or have met others who loved their time in Asia) I see it as a viable option for my future. It has definitely continued to open my eyes to the world and learn to embrace differences with joy.

Janelle. Janelle decribed personal and individual growth in both her thoughts and perceptions of the world. She spoke about her previous travels and the culminating effects that each foreign culture had on her development. More importantly, she discussed the personal traits that had impacted her, such as her ability to adapt, reflect, analyze, and keep adapting. She described her place in life, "*As a young person, getting ready to graduate, I know I'm still finding myself and this experience has both justified my thoughts on who I am as well as shaken them to their core*" while she continued to illustrate her place in the world; "*In the big picture I am a part of the world or nation and who I am as an individual will hold a small part in it.*" Like Amanda, Janelle gained access to an outsiders percepective of her home culture as well and recognized the varying views of the United States, often unrecognized from the homeland:

My thoughts on how others view the United States seem to change with every country I live in. Perceptions and ideas of the U.S. weigh greatly on how the U.S. is presented to the people in the news, in conversation, and through their own government. I have learned that every country will have supporters as well as haters of the United States. It's interesting to find that many Brazilians, like many other cultures, love U.S. entertainment. The rest is pretty split, depending on who you talk to.

Additionally, Janelle recognized charactistics of the Brazilian culture that she had chosen to incorporate into her own life: "*My thoughts have been further justified, in that people are the most important thing in life.*" She explained that each time she traveled she



gained a new perspective on other cultures as well as increased self awareness. She commented about the high priority that Brazilians placed on family and relationships, while opening their homes to others and making her feel comfortable while there.

Jacey. Numerous factors played a role in the personal growth that Jacey experienced while student teaching in Singapore; namely living with a new family and being surrounded by people who did not relate to her on a daily basis. "Singapore has challenged me and how I react to new people and places. While I've always considered myself to be an open and accepting individual, my experience overseas has taught me to control my immediate reactions a bit more carefully."

Jacey described her initial reactions during her first weeks, as she found herself immersed in cultural diversity like she had not previously experienced:

When I first arrived in Singapore and started meeting all of my colleagues, I was quick to be surprised or shocked at certain things people did or said; these reactions were never meant to be hurtful or narrow-minded they were simply my genuine reactions to the things people said or even the things people claimed never to have heard of or experienced.

Having lived all of her life in one state, Jacey had not been exposed to the array of diversity that she was amidst during her student teaching. Through this experience, she recognized that her thoughts, reactions, and opinions were not necessarily commonly shared when the people around her came from various cultural backgrounds. Living with a host family exposed Jacey to the inside perspective of a new family environment. Moreover, spending most of her days with people who did not necessarily relate to her small town upbringing challenged her to examine how she reacted to new people and places. While her perceived self-image was one of



acceptance and honoring differences, Jacey quickly recognized when her opinions were in the minority:

I've always considered myself to be an open and accepting individual; my experience overseas has taught me to control my immediate reactions a bit more carefully. When I first arrived in Singapore and started meeting all of my colleagues, I was quick to be surprised or shocked at certain things people did or said; these reactions were never meant to be hurtful or narrow-minded they were simply my genuine reactions to the things people said or even the things people claimed never to have heard of or experienced.

After her first month in Singapore, Jacey noticed that people seemed to feel uncomfortable around her or hesitant to share certain information with her. Upon reflection, she attributed this to what she described as her immediate reaction and facial expression that seemed to create disconnect between her and the people she met. She explained, "While I may feel connected to other people, that doesn't necessarily mean they will understand the things I've been through or I'll understand the things they've experienced."

While reflecting on her personal growth throughout the semester of student teaching, Jacey explained that, through her increased interaction with a diverse population, her self-awareness was elevated as she recognized a need to absorb and reflect on each encounter while making a conscious effort to be humble in effort to ensure that the persons with whom she was interacting felt comfortable and willing to share their ideas. She also recognized that, through this enculturation process, she would continue to grow in her own personal understanding of cultural differences. She shared this new awareness in her final reflection: "*In the end, the different experiences and opinions people hold shouldn't act as something that shocks me, it should act as something that intrigues me and pushes me to learn more.*"



Alyssa. Alissa described the experience of student teaching abroad as one that stretched her personally. The extensive lived experiences in a non-Western culture enabled Alissa to dwell among various cultures "in language, culture, mindset and pace of life." Through this "indescribable experience," she moved beyond culture shock and learned to embrace her new environment. Being placed in another culture so vastly unique from her own enabled her to reflect on her own presumptions and background while recognizing these differences.

Darci. When inquired about personal growth during student teaching, Darci revealed new insights to her own travel preferences and inner strength. Since her experience was completely on her own, Darci learned that she preferred having someone with whom to share her experiences, but, at the same time, she commented that "sometimes it is nice to start off alone and just meet and travel with new people."

I learned how to be open to new experiences and renewed my excitement in trying everything once. I am more confident in approaching new people- this has given me the opportunity to share experiences with people from all over the world.

Commonalities among participants

The themes throughout these responses depicted a newfound awareness, or a new lens in which the participants were able to view themselves. As they were introduced to an outsider's perspective they recognized they gained new views on their home culture, and their personal value and characteristics. Additionally, daily interactions in the non-Western cultures brought about a surprising awareness of their own biases, preferences, stereotypes, and assumptions.



Question 4. How will these personal influences impact your teaching and, ultimately, your future students?

The professional impact revealed by the participants was extensive and intertwined with their personal growth . While the participants noted the personal aspects of increased self-reliance, expanding veiw points, first hand experiences, and appreciation for diverse cultures, this simultaneously impacted the professional ways in which they interacted and built rapport with students and embraced their individual needs.

Teachers are routinely pressed to be creative when using resources available to them. However, the acquisition process takes on a new meaning when one lives aborad and seeks resources that U.S.-educated teachers are accustomed to finding at a local convenient store, but which are not necessarily available in the country where they are teaching.

Materials are imperative as an art teacher. Lack of, abundance of, just enough, it's all important. It may seem like a no brainer, but knowing the materials that are available, and being able to find alternatives to those that are not is key in teaching art, or anything for that matter.

Janelle described her school as having an abundance of resources for items that could be found in Brazil. However, when her art projects required items not found locally, she had to rely on her own creativity to find substitutions. She relied on recycled material and *"junk"* to create projects that were, sometimes, more meaningful than projects using items purchased from the store:

I know that in my future, I will probably not have the materials nor the budget of this school for supplies. I also know that I will be just fine, because I will use my resources, my surroundings, and my brain to make the most of the materials I have, or don't have!

In addition to learning to be creative with resources, the participants also discussed other ways in which they were professionally impacted while student

teaching in a non-Western culture. Most notable was the significant attention focused



on their newfound recognition of the importance of accepting and valuing differences in the classroom. Each participant noted at least one way in which her teaching would be influenced forever by this realization. Darci noted that, although the various differences among students may initially seem challenging, "*It is important to find something to like in each and every student. No matter what, there is always something there!*" Recognizing that her students were well-travelled and often more culturally aware than she had experienced in her home-state, Amanda noted her to desire to "keep up" or even "catch up" with her students' experiences, and the importance of this; "*I think that the more I continue to explore the world; to live in new countries and get to know new cultures, the better I can serve my students.*" Alissa's comment further explained that valuing student differences is not exclusively important to teaching overseas, but will follow her into any teaching environment that

she finds herslef:

Having this experience as a student teacher will definitely impact the way I approach teaching. I want to bring the skill sets I developed here to any school I teach at in the future, whether it be Iowa or Indonesia! I think all students will benefit from a multicultural education that caters to each individual students' needs.

Jacey added to the professional impact by noting her own dispositon and the environment that she created for her learners. When refering to her "*new relaxed and openminded approach*" to teaching, Jacey commented:

Both of these traits will impact my students as my classroom will be an environment that is safe and secure where students will always be accepted and able to share their unadulterated feelings and thoughts. My relaxed and open minded approach to working with the students will help them to feel comfortable and willing to share all of their insights.



As Alissa looked back on her experince student teaching in Brazil, she

recognized that it was unparalled in many aspects from her peers' student teaching in

her home state:

It was such a unique experience to teach at an international school. Teaching with a multicultural perspective was a natural consequence of having students from all over the world. Differentiation was also a necessity, as there were students at all stages of language acquisition, backgrounds, and cultures.

However, as Alissa described the natural consequesces of establishing teaching

practices rooted in such an environment, the relevance could be translated into any

environment. Janelle emphasized this point further:

It will always be different, seeing as how I will have a different environment, different students, different everything. The idea is to learn the most about the students in my classroom in order to make the best adjustments possible for learning.

Finally, Amanda summarized the impact of an international studentt eaching

experince as noted by all of the participants in various formats:

The continual process of learning to understand and appreciate other cultures will most certainly affect my teaching style and the students in my classroom as I will be able to understand them at a new level as well. I am extremely thankful for the opportunity I have had here to grow as an educator and as a member of humanity and know that my positive experiences here will only benefit myself and my students in the future.

In the analysis of the final reflections submitted at the conclusion of the student teaching experience, there were commonalities among the participants' personal and professional themes as they reflected on the influence of the student teaching experience in a non-Western culture. While the purpose of this study was not to draw conclusions which might represent a large number of people, the responses did bring to the surface several trends that might be depicted through the lens of these five participants. When reviewing the



final student teaching reflections of these participants, the following themes appeared repeatedly throughout the final reflections. The participants expressed:

- High regard for professional relationships and collaboration;
- Enthusiasm for teaching and validation of the decision to be a teacher;
- Expanded view of the world;
- Incorporation of multiple world views into teaching strategies;
- Increased ability to alter lessons to meet diverse needs, diverse cultures and second language learners;
- An "outsider's" perspective, which provided a new view on the home culture and personal values that derive from that culture;
- Recognition of inaccurate biases and assumptions about the world or its people;
- Ability to differentiate instruction meaningfully and authentically; and
- Increased rapport with students based on life experiences and world artifacts

Summary

This chapter presented a profile of the participants in the study, relevant demographic information regarding the five participants, and the data results from the first and final days of the participants' experiences student teaching in a non-Western culture. The First Day Reflections indicated that participants felt warmly welcomed into their student teaching environment. They gained respect for the professional dedication of the teachers that they worked with and reaffirmed their career choice and commitment to the teaching profession. The open-ended questions from the Final Student Teaching Reflections yielded multiple themes that reflected the intent of this study, which was to describe the intercultural



development that occurred when student teaching in a non-Western culture. Those themes included: (1) professional relationships and collabortation; (2) enthusiasm for teaching; (3) exposure to mulitple nationalities; (4) ability to differentiate instruction, espeically for seond lanugage learners; (5) increased self- awareness; and (6) professional growth.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 5. FINDINGS

This chapter addresses the participants as they reflected back on their student teaching semester during the year that followed student teaching, as they were in their first year of teaching. Using the previously described theoretical framework, the participant interviews were analyzed according to Bennett's (1993) Developmental Model of Intercultural Sensitivity (DMIS).

DMIS Themes from Interviews of Participants as First Year Teachers

In the analysis of this study, each participant fell in the ethnorelevant side of the continuum and in the *Adaptation* stage of the DMIS. While analyzing the data, the predictability described by Bennett (1993), became apparent as numerous participant quotes matched almost identically with Bennett's interpretations. As Cushner (2012) suggested, the extended period of time in a diverse environment caused the participants to move from the comfortable stage of minimization into the stage of adaptation, where they began to recognize that differences are important and worthy of embracing.

Described by Bennett as expected behavior in the stage of Adaptation, the participants in this study gave particular attention to three themes, thus categorizing them in the ethnorelavant side of Bennett's continuum and in the Adaptation stage. Four themes that appeared repeatedly throughout the interviews were: (1) increased interaction with people of other cultures; (2) realization that people are the same, yet different, and those differences are important; (3) ability to think or act outside of their own culture; and (4) expansion of authenticity, the definition of one's self, to include alternative contexts. The emergent



themes are detailed in the following sections, with participant quotes and behaviors listed for each theme.

Increased interaction with people of other cultures

Responses from all participants articulated increased interactions with people of other cultures. From personal activities such as grocery shopping, host family living arrangements, neighborly exchanges, and social activities at various embassies, to professional interactions with school maintenance staff, teachers, students, and student's parents, all aspects of the participants' lives encompassed close interactions with diverse cultures. One participant remarked, "*Never in Iowa had I worked with a group of 16 students representing nine separate nationalities*" while another noted, "*All the different cultures and worldviews my students brought to each class really opened my eyes to the different points of view that students from all around the world may have.*"

In addition to cultural differences, economic diversity was another dynamic that was routinely encountered. In contrast to the participants' own middle-class upbringing and field experiences prior to student teaching, the students who attended American international schools were typically from wealthy and highly affluent families. Likewise, it was also not uncommon for the participants to encounter people who were homeless or poverty stricken throughout the non-Western communities in which they lived.

Exposure to multiple languages was also prevalent during the participants' time living abroad. In addition to living among communities where English was not the native tongue, participants also taught students who spoke a variety of languages, depending on their home culture. As one participant explained, "*I have seen and admire, the use of multiple languages*



in a classroom, and many of the students have a very global perspective of the world due to their third culture upbringing. ESL students were very common." Another participant added to this by stating, "In any one of the classes I taught, I could hear at least three different languages being spoken at one time. All students know English, but some students hold it as a second or third language." Multiple languages also impacted lesson planning, as noted by another participant: "Altering the delivery of my lessons was a useful tool to capture the attention and allow for understanding of all students."

It was revealed that the lived experiences abroad caused participants to be more confident when approaching new people, while also building shared experiences with people from all around the world. Recognizing the value of these new relationships and those yet to forged, Amanda summed up her experiences:

I believe I came into this experience with a fairly worldly, conscientious view of humanity but it was such an incredible experience just to meet my students and the other teachers who have seen so many other countries and lived in so many other cultures that showed me that I'm just at the tip of the iceburg when it comes to understanding this whole world.

Participants described people whom they met while living abroad as "very dear *friends and families*", indicating that relations went beyond surface level understandings. It did not seem to matter whether the interactions occurred in the professional of personal environments. What mattered was that, through these interactions, all participants concurred that they had encountered different cultures, world views, and perspectives while opening their eyes to "the different points of view that students from all around the world may have."

People are the same, yet different, and differences are important

Throughout their reflections, the participants commented on a variety of differences that they encountered. However, almost without exception, these comments were followed



with a form of positive interpretation of these differences. Rather than ethnocentrically

viewing anything differenced as an error in judgment or action, the participants gave value to

the alternative ways of thinking and doing, thus adding to their own perspectives.

The participants recognized patterns in social lives of people from other cultures, and

noted the similarities more than the differences. One participant commented that, "Their

everyday life isn't that much different than my everyday life." Jacey added:

People are people, no matter where they come from. The experiences that they've had and the struggles that they've had to go through may be quite different, but really, at the end of the day we're all humans and we have the same worries and wants, and we worry about the same petty things no matter where in the world we may be. I came to that realization in both my experiences outside of the school, just walking around Singapore and meeting the locals and what not.

However, as Jacey continued, distinguishing characteristics were also observed and valued:

But I also learned that especially from my students... In a class of 17 sophomores, I had 10 different nationalities represented, and yet they were just 15 year old sophomores. And the point of view they had on certain things such as religion and family values, that was the difference!

As most participants described, there was not dominant culture within the schools, and, somehow, being unique was actually the norm. Janelle described this environment by stating, "*They all intermixed. It wasn't that I'm from here and you're from there and I'm going to hang out with this group of people. It wasn't like that at all. It was very nice to see and very eye-opening. Everyone just kind of gets along with everyone.*" Janelle continued by elaborating on the dynamic camaraderie among the students, which she depicted as nonjudgmental and accepting of differences; "I think that every student is going to still embrace where they are from and I think their friends become a part of that. That's what it seemed like to me that they were all honoring each other in that way and being a part of it." Jacey admitted that teaching a diverse group of students was no better or worse than her peers in



her home state, but she also recognized the value that this mutual acceptance brought to the classroom as she detailed the meaningful conversation that these various points of view brought to classroom discussions and interpretations of various novels. As she reflected upon similar discussions she had attempted in a more homogenous group of students, Jacey found the conversation to be rather dull when students possessed relatively unvarying schemas.

All of the participants noted, in some capacity, that the students had similar traits to other students throughout the world, and the similarities were greater than the differences. However, their unique characteristics were what brought value to their classrooms and the schools, in general. Amanda captured the sentiments of the other participants in her final student teaching reflection as she discussed the ways in which her experience was unique from her peers in a more traditional student teaching placement:

Teaching as a profession goes deeper than how old the kid is or where they're from or what they believe or what color their skin is, or what language they speak or anything. It's about educating the child. It's about nurturing them and I think for me, I learned to fully embrace kids regardless of anything and I don't think that in Iowa that I would have not embraced kids, but I don't think that I would have had to stretch myself to understand them at so many different levels

This final quote demonstrated the recognition of the various ways in which students may differ but, ultimately, teachers must find cause to celebrate each child for the unique place he or she has in the classroom.

Participants think or act outside their own culture (typically occurs when living abroad)

One aspect noted by several participants was the concept of time and how it was

viewed or valued in the non-Western cultures in which they were living. While US

Americans tend to be rather time sensitive, other cultures sometimes take a more casual



approach to the concept. Occasionally, participants displayed annoyance at an apparent lack of structure, but essentially, participants began to appreciate a slower approach toward daily involvements and quickly assimilated to the lifestyle.

Darci described her life at home in the U.S. as one of always feeling rushed. In comparison, she described a "*very different feeling while living in Thailand*," as she noted the importance placed on family and friends while living there. As she returned to the U.S. to begin her career, Darci struggled with failed attempts to replicate relationships that were formed in the four short months she lived in Thailand. She described these challenges following her return to the U.S.:

I have a roommate, and I will go whole weeks without saying more than "how's your day", or "have a good night" sort of thing because I'm constantly working and I think that I try to balance more and keep this perspective open and that if it doesn't get done today it will be ok. Coming back to the states was a lot harder than leaving the states

Similarly, Alissa reflected on her experience in Brazil and displayed her mixed emotions between the value of personal relationships as demonstrated through extensive conversations and the conflict this created when there was a need to be somewhere at a predesignated time:

I enjoyed that people were the priority and there just wasn't as much of a rush. And yet sometimes because I was around other Americans and in an American school, sometimes it would take like feelings of pressure from other people or realizing that "if this were in America this would not be ok!" Like, if someone was just taking a really long time to talk to someone when we had somewhere to go.

Although there was occasional tension, Alissa described the experience as one that

caused her to be stretched personally which enabled her to reflect on her presumptions of

other cultures. She recognized that, although there were some drawbacks to alternative



social norms, there were also advantages. Janelle reiterated Alissa's sentiments as she described her view of the priorities of the people in Brazil: "*People are the most important thing in life. Brazilians are very family and relationship oriented, as well as very open to sharing their home and family to make others comforable.*" Janelle added that "*There is no expectation. They just really want to make sure you feel at home and go out of their way to make sure you are taken care of.*" As she reflected on her own priorities, Janelle recognized that her actions didn't always demonstrate this same prirotity:

I think I naturally catch myself sometimes thinking I don't have time, or I don't want to do that, but then I think why wouldn't I want to help someone out? And I kind of reflect back to when I was [in Brazil] and it's really not hard for you to go out of your way in most cases.

Janelle took her reflections further as she demonstrated the impact that Brazilian hospitality had on her professional life. As she discussed students who were lost or confused in the school or in her class, she remembered the time that people took for her when she was in a similar situation. Janelle talked about recognizing confused expressions on student's faces and her increased patience with student concerns as a direct result of her experiences in Brazil.

Similarly, Jacey also described the ways in which her student teaching experience had impacted her teaching, and changed the way she approached lessons in her first year of teaching. Where she may have previously had a more limited scope of understanding differences, and possibly discredited some differences if they varied too far from what she considered to be acceptable, Jacey now felt more equipped to incorporate differences into her teaching. She explained that teaching overseas enabled her to learn from her environment and take the necessary steps to assimilate quickly.



Jacey provided an example of a class discussion during her first year of teaching. While students dicussed a novel based on family values, a debate arose over the responsibility of a daughter to give up life dreams to care for a family as oppose to pursuing life dreams of a career. As her class was comprised of students of various ethnicities, the debate became real when some students insisted that choosing to pursue one's own dreams over caring for a family member was evidence of self-centeredness and a lack of compassion. As Jacey described her intial reaction to this conversation she admitted, "*So that was kind of the first 'whoa' experience of 'I'm not in Iowa anymore' and the people I'm surrounded by don't have the same values or morals that I do.*" However, her experiences during student teaching had enabled her to move beyond the initial reaction and create a comfortable environment for a respectful discussion that incorporated different opinions into the conversation.

Amanda provided another example of an increased ability to think outside of her home culture as she described her heightened respect for diverse religious beliefs. As she previously explained, the impetus for choosing a predominantly Muslim culture for student teaching was her desire to better understand what she believed to be misconceptions of this religion. Prior to student teaching, she described a "*spectator view*" of Muslims in Iowa with her understandings being limited to "*they don't eat during Ramadan, and they try to pray a lot during the day and, the women cover.*" Amanda's perspective changed as she gained a more comprehensive view of Islam during her student teaching experience in Egypt. "Going from a place where there were maybe 20 Muslims in a town, to a place where there was maybe 20 Christians surrounded by Muslims, it was interesting being in the minority religiously and just seeing how that daily behavior is accepted and normal there." Through



this exposure, Amanda recognized that *"It's not just motions, there's a real dedication to [the faith] and it's a lifestyle"* while also noting that it was good for her to remember that her childhood home life was not necessarily the norm in the world. Although she ultimately reaffirmed her own religious beliefs, Amanda also gained an increased respect for other beliefs and was able to speak from a more informed perspective rather than with the spectator view she described previously.

A final example of thinking outside one's own culture is, perhaps, an example of social class more than national culture that was learned while living abroad and working with students from a highly affluent cultural upbringing. Amanda also provided an example of her changed viewpoint when she recognized her error in judgment regarding her students perceived lacking skills sets or deficiencies. When asking students to use a blade during an art project on print making, Amanda was astonished at the number of times that students cut themselves. Having previously done this project with the same age group in Iowa, she immediately assumed, *"they're just careless, clumsy kids"* and discounted the fact that used this privileged group of students rarely had the need to use their hands for skilled labor. Amanda recalled her students' surprise when they saw her change a light bulb in the classroom, which deepened her understanding of the wealthy Egyptian culture:

If something's broken at home, they call someone to fix it. They don't even call, their maid calls someone to fix it. Or if something needs to be altered or sewn, they have no concept of how that works and so just the skill set, the physical skill set that my students brought to the classroom was affected by the culture they live in.

Amanda further exemplified her understanding of Egyptian culture as she explained the rationale behind what might be perceived as "*lazy*" in a Western culture:



84

Egypt is a culture that tries to generate jobs because there are so many people in that area, that they need work. So people do just the most unthinkable jobs [for someone] in the States. They do the most random jobs and a lot of labor and a lot of repair and service work is done and so students that have the money to employ those people don't even know how to use their hands to do simple skills.

Rather than blaming her students for lacking the skills necessary to use a blade, Amanda was able to use her personal experiences in Egypt to better understand the reason behind these lacking abilities and alter her teaching accordingly. In her final thoughts on this situation, Amanda commented, *"Hey, this is life and this is how we operate. Let's work around it. Let's work with it;"* an approach that will surely translate into other situations as well.

Authenticity; the definition of one's self is expanded to include alternative context

Throughout student reflections and interviews, there existed a strong sentiment of pride in personal growth among the participants that resulted in a new sense of self. The *expanded self* ranged from newfound inner strength and a relaxed attitude to open mindedness and identifying personally with the host culture. The participants realized that leaving their comfort zones and living in a non-Western culture on a daily basis certainly impacted their view of themselves as well as their personal interactions. Their comments encompassed changes expansions in both their personal and professional images as depicted in their own words:

"I feel like I meet a different version of myself in each place I go"

"In living in another culture, so many of my assumptions and ways of thinking have been challenged, and I believe that I have changed for the better"

"You learn so much about teaching, but... you become the person that you are meant to be because you are absolutely removing yourself from everything you've ever known."



Ana Masria (I am Egyptian). While this statement is incredible inaccurate, it conveys how I feel personally here.

"I have developed into the educator I've always wanted to be."

While all five the participants displayed an expanded self, Amanda described how she

believed these changes occurred:

I think when you're surrounded by things that are very different to you and you're exploring it you kind of have to remind yourself of who you are and why that's different from what you're seeing. And you either choose to morph and change and accept what you're seeing as new truth or you are kind of reaffirmed in what you did believe and you can see and understand what you're seeing, but it reconfirms who you are in some ways and that it's different, but it's unique. It's really helped me develop a new sense of who I am.

Others spoke of the stage in life that they were in while student teaching. As the end of their

college years approached and their professional lives were before them, one participant

described it as a "time to redefine yourself." Janelle further explained:

As a young person getting ready to graduate, I know I'm still finding myself and this experience has both justified my thoughts on who I am as well as shaken them to their core. In the big picture I am a part of the world/nation and who I am as an individual will hold a small part in it.

Bennett (2001) described the stage of Adaptation as one which "takes the form of

cognitive frame shifting, where one attempts to take the persepective of another culture" and

the concept of "reciprocal mututal obligation is formed" (p. __). This mutual obligation was

evidenced by the participants as they expressed their desire to alter their ways of thinking and

behaving, not out of a sense of obligation but, rather, because it authentically felt right to

them.

This section illuminated the thoughts and actions of the participants and they told the

storiesfromt heir experiences student teaching in non-Western culutres. These experiences

propelled the participants to the stage of Adaptation.



Adaption Stage of Cultural Sensitivity

The participants clearly displayed evidence of being in the *Adaptation* stage of Cultural Sensitivity. As stated in the initial over-arching research questions, this study sought not only to determine their level of cultural sensitivity, but also how to determine what value that brought to their first year of teaching. For the purposes of this study, *value* was determined by tacit and explicit teaching practices. In the final interview, participants were asked to discuss the influence that their student teaching experience had on their first year of teaching with regard to teaching philosophies, and pedegogical assumptions and understanding of learners. Additionally, they were asked to share how these philosophies translated into their classroom interactions and activities. This remaining portion of this chapter draws on the final interviews and discusses the personal and professional impact, as described by the participants, in terms of their teaching philosophies and explicit practices in the classroom.

Alissa

In a rather challenging job market, Alissa initially credited her experience student teaching abroad as impacting her ability to get a job as new graduate. While numerous factors came into consideration, *"what stood out the most was the student teaching experience abroad.*" Alissa explained that she had an interview arranged in a school district that interested her, and while she was there vistiting, she had the intention of seeing as many schools as possible within that district. Before the day was over, Alissa had interviewed with numerous district administrators and she was offered a job. When asked her opinion of her disirability as a candidate, Alissa commented that *"everyone saw that [I student taught in*



87

Brazil] and it totally stuck out and they all asked about it. It definitely came in to play in all of my interviews and in my answers to questions they asked."

Alissa credits international student teaching for inspiring the global perspective that is apparent in her classroom. She shared a desire to expose her students to various cultures while still implementing the mandatory curriculum. International student teaching caused her to think critically about differentiating instruction while making learning culturally relevant to her students:

Something that I really grew in as a teacher during my international student teaching experience was the ability to differentiate. It was such a necessity in Brazil when I had such language differences, as well as a range of learning abilities and language abilities- differentiation was just a necessity, so that comes easily to me now because of my student teaching experience.

Alissa shared examples of integrating cultural or global awareness into her daily teaching through various formats. One example included the world map placed on the bulletin board with numerous pins in respective locations indicating the settings of various books they have read.

My goal is that these 3rd graders will leave my classroom being more aware of the work beyond their little town or even Kansas City and recognize that there are the same uniqueness's of people all over the world. As topics come up in literature, we take the time to stop and talk about how life here is different and the same from these other places.

Additionally, Alissa labeled the table groups in her classroom according to the different

countries that the students chose. The name of a country and its flag were posted over each

table:

Just little things like that they all remember, "Oh, I was South Africa"... and they have a sense of where South Africa is. They know what the flag looks like and who knows what interests those little things will inspire, but as I get further into teaching, my goal is to go deeper into some of those little things I



have started. And continue to find more quality literature from different cultures and find ways to integrate my love for the global perspective and share that with my students.

Throughout the interview, Alissa repeatedly expressed her desire to "*do more*" with respect to incorporating a theme of international awareness in her classroom. From the cultural representation in biographies on her bookshelf to the classroom décor, and the identification of student groups by diverse flags and country names, students in Alissa's class gained exposure to cultures and traditions that were not necessarily part of the explicit curriculum but, rather, woven intentionally throughout the fabric of Alissa's teaching as a direct result of her own positive experience student teaching in an international location.

Amanda

Unlike Alissa, Amanda pursued and successfully accomplished her goal of getting her first teaching job in an international school. Amanda was hired to teach at a reputable American school in India. She described the school as a progressive school with a diverse population of students.

It is an American School, and the only American school in [this city], which makes it unique and desirable and is very expensive to attend. The kids who are here are from over 50 different countries so when you think of 700 student and 50 different countries, that's quite a ratio of diverse students. It's a very high tech school. That's something that sets us apart too.

When teaching such a diverse group of students, Amanda recognized the need to understand the various cultures and be sensitive to issues that may impact some students more than others. In previous interviews, Amanda expressed her desire to better understand Islam as central to her decision to student teach in Cairo. The insights gained while student teaching in a predominantly Islamic culture became apparent in her first year of teaching.



When asked how her student teaching experience uniquely impacted her teaching today, her initial reply was: "*I think I understand now what it means for a kid to be Muslim and come to school completely wiped out the day after Ramadan ended, and things like that I understand.*" Her understanding of other cultures did not cease with the Islamic culture, but rather transferred to other cultures as well.

I feel like I can make the first move and ask my students about those things now because I have a better understanding of, if this person is from Thailand for example, and I can ask them about things that are important to them. Like the flooding in Bangkok last weekend, just little things like that- rather than waiting for it to come out of the students, I feel more equipped to actively ask them about cultural stuff.

In addition to gaining empathy for various cultures, Amanda also displayed an understanding for her students from diverse socio economic groups. As she explained early in the interview, the school was quite expensive to attend, and in many ways was similar to the school where she student taught. Although Amanda did not grow up with a lifestyle similar to her students, her position as a teacher in an international school allowed her unique opportunities for extensive travel. She commented on the relevance of this travel as means of better equipping her to understand her students: *"I know they are all going to travel on the weekends and being able to relate to them and being able to understand that and ask meaningful questions about those travels."*

Second language speakers are common in international schools, which enabled Amanda to have numerous interactions and experiences teaching second language learners, not only during her student teaching but also in her first year of teaching. The students she was taught while student teaching in Egypt resembled the English language abilities of her



students in India. As Amanda strived to emulate the practices of her cooperating teachers, she described the strategies she used in her first year of teaching:

I have been flashing back to last year to how I modified instruction to the whole class, and making sure I was using my hands, repeating slowly, holding up the times as I say them to show what they are. And having ESL students really kind of heightens your awareness of their level of understanding.

Empathy for culture, socio-economic differences, and second language learners contributed greatly to the tacit practices in her classroom. Amanda was also asked to discuss the curriculum that she teaches and the more explicit practices in her classroom. When doing so, Amanda shared her insights on the International Baccalaureate curriculum which was implemented in the school where she taught: *"it is such a universal curriculum that it gets at what's most important. You teach concepts rather than content."* Amanda further explained how this curriculum directly impacted her thought process as she prepared lessons or units: *"And so as I'm planning my lessons I'm thinking about ok, if we need to tie this to history… you don't need to tie it to American history, at an American school we can tie it to any history that makes sense to how the kids will relate to it."* Furthermore, Amanda offered a specific example from her classroom that had occurred on the same day as the interview, in which it became apparent to Amanda that common knowledge in the Midwestern U.S. can differ greatly from common knowledge in a setting of diverse students living overseas.

We were talking about monuments and they had studied Stone Hedge, they had studied the Eiffel Tower, they had studied the Pyramids and the Great Wall of China, and these huge land marks all over the world. And this one student said, "Miss, isn't there a statue in the US where there's a bunch of people's heads carved on it?"

As Amanda contemplated the student's question, she tried to think in the context of her current location, and the student's schema. After thinking though the context of the situation,



she realized that this student life experiences were not rooted in the US, and therefore, concepts commonly understood by peer groups in the US, were not the case in the international school setting:

India has a lot of statues of five headed God's or thing like that, and then he said, "I think maybe they are presidents or something...?" And I was like "Oh, Mount Rushmore!" And so that kind of back ground is very common place, in the Midwest especially, but in an international school, that kind of a monument isn't what will come to their mind when they are thinking of historic landmarks.

Amanda provided another specific example of a lesson in her own classroom. When translating her philosophies into actions, Amanda described a watercolor unit that she taught, "What is kind of funny to me is that the actual lessons I teach hardly change. "Whether I was in Iowa, or Cairo, or India, or middle level or elementary, it depends most on what you want [the students] to get out of it. You can put an emphasis on different parts of it." She further elaborated on what she previously explained with regards to concepts taking precedence of content:

For example, this unit that I did on water colors- we are learning about deforestation and the mangrove tree. And deforestation is a subject that is talked about all over the world. But here, we went into how does that happen in India, and in the world. And in my art room we used watercolor as a medium to choose how they wanted to express how they feel about what is happening. And some of them have lived in places where they have witnessed deforestation and others have-not. So although, watercolor is something that is taught everywhere, what is neat here is that the focus in on the concept of preserving parks and rainforests and wrapping your mind around [the idea] that by caring for the forests, we are acting as caring citizens of this world and it just takes it a little further and makes it meaningful.

Amanda recognized that a more traditional curriculum would have focused solely on the techniques of watercolor, with less expression. Her appreciation for the curriculum can be noted in her comment, *"Here it makes so much sense to have everything connected."*



Knowing the transient nature of her student population, Amanda recognized that the focus of her lessons could not be centered on their life in India, as it was likely one of many locations that her students would call home over their lifetime. This knowledge enabled Amanda to embrace the IB curriculum while better serving the needs of such a diverse group of students.

So the idea that when you plan something, you can't think about "what makes sense because we are in India, or what makes sense because they are American", but you think about what makes sense in the unit because we are a citizen of this world and it's a very globally minded curriculum, so it talks about things that these kids can take with them no matter where they go.

The final point that Amanda made addressed the make-up of the students and the teachers in

the school and the vast experiences that they brought to the school. With such diverse

experiences among everyone, authenticity was heighted by the stories they offered or the

artifacts they shared:

Like last week, we looked at an artist who was from Israel, and two of my students are Israeli. So I asked those girls outside of class whether they understood what this artist did. And one of the girls said she was too young to understand it, and the other girls said, yeah, I can understand- so it's kind of interesting to pull who you would usually bring in as a guest speaker from your own student body.

This point was reinforced as Amanda was offered an opportunity to be a guest speaker in a

class that was learning about Egypt:

And I'm not even Egyptian. But the kids were studying different countries and they just wanted a firsthand witness of some things about Egypt. So they were asking me about mummies and crocodiles in the Nile, and you know little things that kids think of. And the kids who heard [my] firsthand experiences had pretty phenomenal projects, even though I didn't feel like I provided them with that much.

She further discussed the follow-up conversation with the classroom teacher on the

importance of what she shared:



And the teacher later said to me, you know, it makes all the difference to have someone who's experienced something to share about it. We find that's true in the States too but how often do you find someone who has been to Egypt or China and can come in and talk about it. It can happen, but it happens quite frequently in International schools.

Throughout Amanda's interview, she shared numerous examples of ways in which she was impacted by student teaching experience in a non-Western culture. She discussed the preparation that it provided for working with diverse groups of students, as well as specific examples of lesson creation and implementation, uniquely based on the mindset she was equipped with as she approached her students.

Darci

Darci opted to return to the U.S. to begin her teaching career, and was hired in a large urban school district. In vast contradiction to the school where she student taught, Darci found herself as one of ten other science teachers in the high school. Midway through the school year, Darci was still adjusting to class sizes that were more than double her student teaching experience. She described a desire to collaborate with other teachers but expressed difficulty in finding time with so many other teachers, often on different time schedules and levels of the building. Although she claimed that collaboration occurred more in the larger school environment due to sheer numbers of teachers teaching the same subject matter, she also commented on the importance of daily interactions in the more intimate environment overseas.

Despite such contrasts between student teaching in a private American International school in Thailand and her first year of teaching in a metropolitan city in the U.S., Darci found the student teaching experience relevant to her first year teaching. She remarked, "*I definitely think there is stuff I did there that I brought back with me*." Since her student



teaching placement utilized the Middle Years (MYP) portion of the International Baccalaureate program, Darci has continued to infuse international concepts into her teaching. The use of rubrics was initially introduced to her in college, and later became an integral part of assessment that she further incorporated into her student teaching, and subsequently into first year of teaching:

Integrating the rubrics is something that I had actually learned a lot about at [the University]. My advisor, when I was a grad assistant, I did a lot of grading on rubrics but that is something that was sort of developed and refined while I was [student teaching]. It's interesting because we are contemplating doing one test a trimester here that is the same for every school in the district. So it would be the same for my class and at both the other high schools, so there has just been talk about how things like that are going to be graded. And [my cooperating teacher], at [student teaching] would often grade tests using a rubric and so that idea has interested me and I have shared that with other people here.

In addition to the assessment strategies, Darci also shared specific teaching strategies that she integrated into her first year of teaching. Although her student teaching experience provided little experience with students with learning disabilities, it did offer a lot of exposure to second language learners. Darci has now transferred techniques previously used with second language learners and utilized those same techniques with her lower achieving students:

So a lot of what they focused on was in language or newer English speakers but there wasn't a lot of assistance for students with learning disabilities. That is something I am taking into consideration a lot more here. I am thinking about accommodations a lot. I'd use a lot of assisted note sheets, so at the diploma [IB] level the teachers I was working with made a lot of assisted note sheets. And I guess I hadn't really thought about that but I do that here as well. Not so much for students who are struggling with the language, but for students who have other learning needs. It is interesting to see that the accommodations that these students are receiving are accommodations that really would benefit all students.



Working with a so many second language learners also has caused Darci to look closely at the importance of understanding vocabulary. Within the discipline of biology, her students are introduced to words not commonly used in the English language; therefore she has placed an increased emphasis on acquisition of biology vocabulary.

But I do focus a lot more on vocab now than I would have if I hadn't been in Thailand. So I make vocab cards for the class now- and I don't think I would have recognized that this was so essential if I hadn't been exposed to so many students with language barriers. It's interesting how much better I think students do when they know the language, and I put together how hard it is for student to get the biology vocab.

While increased exposure to second language learners impacted the methods of delivery that Darci used in her first year of teaching, this exposure also impacted her ability to empathize with the various stages of language acquisition that some of her culturally diverse students experienced. During her time in Thailand she recognized that any language skills that she gained were purely auditory. She recognized the difference between her own ability to understand something the Thai language as opposed to her ability to speak, read, or write in the Thai language. Consequently, she recognized the challenges that her students were facing during her first year of teaching when their behavior mirrored her own behavior while she was in Thailand. She realized that, when students expressed body language indicating an understanding of a concept but were unable to articulate their understanding, it was up to her to delve deeper to decipher if the disconnect stemmed from understanding the concept or the inability to express that understanding. Darci explained, "It's not necessarily that they don't understand it, but it's a skill, and they don't seem to know how to summarize *yet.*" She provided an example of a situation where a language barrier limited a student' ability to define a vocabulary word, however, when provided with the definition, this same



student was able to match it to the appropriate term. As Darci looked as ahead to alternative methods for assisting this student, she drew upon strategies that were used during her time abroad, and further contemplated the idea of reading the test to the student and allowing them to rely on auditory skills rather than literacy skills.

In conclusion, Darci made a point to express her desire to teach overseas someday. She described it as "*something that is hard to put in words*", although she attempted to explain:

...the feeling that I had while I was there, and the people I met while I was there. The diversity in the staff was so much higher which makes it easier for kids to relate to the people who are teaching them. I just liked how it was set up, and how invested people were in what they were doing. It was such a short time, it was 4 months, and yet I would not hesitate to contact any of those people if I went abroad again. Whereas here, I feel like I can spend months interacting and still I would not, yeah, ... it's a different approach on friendship.

These final statements further exemplified the welcoming environment that has been

described worldwide, as well as the appreciation for people of various cultures:

I had no idea how to get anywhere, how to order food, or anything. So you just accept people for what they contribute and in that you realize just how many amazing things that people can do. And that you wouldn't have necessarily encountered them otherwise, had you not been so vulnerable to be in that position.

Although great contrast existed between the student teaching and the first year of teaching, Darci articulated numerous occasions where she made connections and meaningful relevance from one experience to the other. During her first year of teaching, Darci applied unique teaching strategies that were gained from having a British educated cooperating teacher as well as an international curriculum during student teaching. Additionally, her lived experiences as a second language speaker enabled Darci to empathize with students



struggling to understand vocabulary and probe students to further understand and learning complications.

Jacey

While it is not uncommon for student teachers to be considered for new positions in the districts where they student teach, this is not always the case in international schools which typically require two years of experience and often times a graduate degree. Hiring a student teacher is especially not common practice in the school where Jacey student taught. Jacey described the school she worked at as "very large, with over 3,000 students and staff pre-k-12 on the campus. The school is extremely academic. The kids are very motivated, very driven, as are my coworkers. They are very passionate and highly intelligent people."

However, due to the unprecedented support of her mentors and the school administration, Jacey had the unique fortune of being hired in the international school where she completed her student teaching:

I had the rare opportunity to enter into a "new job" where I knew all of my co-workers, I knew the curriculum, I knew the students, I knew other teachers and the administration, so I guess I would say that it is my first year of teaching, but it feels like my second semester because I student taught there last year. My student teaching just completely prepared me for what I was walking into. It was more of a continuation I guess.

Graduating mid-year afforded Jacey the opportunity to obtain a long-term substitute position for one semester in her home community immediately after her return from Singapore. This stark contrast gave balance to what she had experienced abroad and forced her to examine those differences. Through this examination, Jacey gained further respect for the professional dedication of her soon-to-be colleagues abroad, as well as a new insight on what was possible when classes were rich with a variety of cultural differences.



When asked to further discuss the extent to which her student teaching shaped teaching philosophies, Jacey described the cultural sensitivity that permeates all of her professional decision making. "*I take into account just the idea that I am not going to have 17 kids in the classroom that are all from the same country, or state or small town. They are not all from the same background. So the first thing I would say is that I take into account their cultural background.*" Although she admitted that there were times she had to re-think her initial reactions, she recognized that culture is central to everything that happened in her classroom:

I am brainstorming what I want them to do on the first day back [after winter break]. And I going to have them do a free write. And of course the first thing I think of is that I want to ask them what they have done over the break. And my initial hunch is to have them tell me what you did over Christmas, and how did you celebrate Christmas with your family. And then I stop myself and I say well, I know for a fact that I have over seven Muslim kids who did not celebrate Christmas so they are not going to know how to answer those questions.

Moreover, Jacey told of the "critical lens" concept that she acquired during her student

teaching experience, and described how that concept also strengthened her ability to relate to

students and make lessons meaningful to each student:

The idea is that whenever you read a novel, a short story, you always bring your own ideology to the text. Whatever you believe, your deep seeded morals, you are applying all of those things to that text, whether you know it or not. And the idea of critical lens is... we call them a lens, so we think of it like a pair of glasses, and so there are many different glasses, or lenses that you can put on in order to analyze a text differently.

More specifically Jacey detailed how this cultural sensitivity applied to the

conversations she had with students during a novel study that focused on gender roles.

Recognizing that the variety of cultures represented in her classes would be inclined to also

represent a spectrum of perspectives on the topic of gender roles, Jacey did not shy away



from the conversations. Rather, she embraced this as an opportunity for rich dialogue by establishing a common understanding:

I brought it up in class and I said being from such a diverse class, I am sure you understand that we all come from different places with different beliefs and values. But I think we can all agree on what we think are universal understandings of what a man and woman should be treated like and what the roles should be.

When asked to describe how this conversation may have been different in the area where she had previously substitute taught, Jacey commented, "*I think as a teacher I wouldn't have had any..., I don't think I would have any students challenging the idea that women have just as many rights as men.*" Recognizing the value that cultural variety adds to a class, Jacey added, "*I have four different sections of freshmen of which two of them it became a debate and two of them which everyone agreed with what was being said, which, by the way, leads to a very boring discussion.*"

Furthermore, Jacey accounted another book study which examined "social dichotomy and how two opposites exist in the same piece of text, and how a character can experience both feelings." With the focus on race relations, Jacey commented on the global awareness that existed among the students she worked with. The students are one of a kind. I know I'm a first year teacher, but so far, in my short teaching career, these students stand out." She added, "They are just so aware of the world outside of them which is unusual for students at this age."

Ultimately, this enhanced global perspective is something Jacey expressed as a goal of her own, as well. She described the impact that student teaching overseas had on her personal and professional goals:



Student teaching overseas has pushed me to be a bit more open to reinventing myself every so often. I think that's what you do when you leave home. It's a chance to really see who you are as a person outside of who you were for the first 18-21 years of your life. I look ahead and it's a big questions mark as opposed to a set path that I am going to take. Which, I strongly feel that if I had stayed in the U.S., it would have been all laid out. I would have a ten year plan. I don't want that now. In two years, I don't know where I am going to be, and I'm ok with that.

Janelle

Janelle had the great fortune of launching her teaching career in the only International Baccalaureate (IB) program in her home state, in a school that many teachers aspire toward throughout their careers. While several of her colleagues had expressed awe and disbelief that she was hired in such an academically rigorous and well respected school, Janelle contributed her student teaching experience in an IB school in Brazil as equipping her with the required experiences and skills sets that set her apart from other candidates.

When asked to describe the ways that student teaching abroad influenced her first

year of teaching, Janelle responded:

Student teaching gave me a lot of input for IB. Instead of being a new teacher and not having a clue of the requirements of IB on me as a teacher, I definitely have had a lot of opportunity for input here because we are just going through the big steps of becoming on IB school. And so I have been asked a lot about what I already know about an IB school, and especially art in an IB school. So it has definitely helped me out in my current position.

In addition to the IB curriculum that underscored much of her teaching, Janelle also depicted specific lessons and projects that encompassed her daily interactions with students. She described her class as rich with projects that involved other countries while emphasizing a multiple points of view. Although Janelle had traveled extensively prior to student teaching, she added, *"I know that has a lot to do with how I view things because of my*



student teaching in another country." In her first weeks of teaching, Janelle had her students create Peace Flags, inspired by the Tibetan Prayer flags: *My main goal in that was to kind of go off of what other cultures believe in. And we put our own twist on it, but it exposed them and opened them up to what other cultures believe.* As previously noted by other participants, the IB curriculum emphasizes *concepts* as a vehicle to enforce content. The example that Janelle provided further attested to this fact. While her peace flag projects centered on the concepts of cultural awareness and open-mindedness, the creation of the flag required art skills.

As an art teacher, Janelle provided abundant examples of ways in which Brazilian art influenced her teaching, both conceptually and through specific skills that she taught. One elaborate example was demonstrated by Janelle's emphasis on graffiti as an art form. Janelle described the presence of graffiti that surrounded her in the city of Brasilia, "When I was even on my walk home- there was graffiti everywhere and it was absolutely gorgeous. Graffiti there was a visual art, which you don't see much here." During her student teaching experience in Brazil, she had the opportunity to work with a group of graffiti artists. Together with the elementary Art teaching, the classes broke into thematic groups based on world peace and began sketching murals. As the projects evolved, all of Janelle's lessons spiraled out of the project: "They started sketching it. And then we taught them to use spray paint. The actual artists came in and they sold the art pieces to raise money for the school. And they displayed the art in the mall and it was really cool." This experience with graffiti in her student teaching peaked Janelle's interest in the concept which became a focal point for a project during her first year of teaching. Janelle brought back numerous pictures of the graffiti in Brazil and shared that with her students in Iowa. This led to projects that decorated



the walls in her classroom, local community buildings, and displayed work in area shopping malls. As Janelle described:

I brought in some of the picture to show my students and we did graffiti on the wall in the classroom and on cardboard with the 7th graders. And currently, we are working on a piece that will actually be in West Des Moines. We talked about graffiti a lot and what I did with the 6th and 7th graders is more "mural" based, and with my high school students we are actually going to take a bus and go do graffiti on a wall of a workout building.

When asked about the extent to which her current work is a reflection of her student teaching, she replied definitively, "*Oh I know it stems from what I saw there*. *Brasilia has definitely influenced all of the lessons that I have done here*."

In addition to the art lessons that were heavily influenced from her time in Brazil, Janelle's also expressed the ways in which her experiences there impacted her interactions with students: "I share a lot with them. I shared it with the parents also. We talked about different lesson plans and I have shared images of what I saw to and from work every day when I lived in Brazil and they found it very interesting. With different places I have been, I bring in things from other areas." She laughed as she told about a student who questioned how she spoke English so well, as the student thought she was from a different country: "They remember my stories and my experiences. Or they seem to! Some of those students have been abroad, so they can relate, and those that haven't have seen so many images that it starts to inspire them."

As many other participants expressed, Janelle was also highly influenced by her experience as "the other" while living in a non-Western culture. She was able to recall how it felt when everyone around her spoke another language, and the frustrations that came with the inability to communicate in the community she lived in. She brought this understanding



to her classroom and extended her liberties to her students that she otherwise would not likely have allowed:

I have a few second language speakers also. I find it really interesting especially with my high school kids, that they speak in their native language first, but having that experience kind of lets me allow them to speak their native language. I am not afraid of what they might be saying, because I have had so much exposure to second languages. As long as they are comfortable telling me what's going on, then I am fine letting them use their art time to speak however they are comfortable. So if they want to speak in Spanish to a friend, I'm fine with that. I can relate.

Janelle further emphasized the benefit this leniency had on her students as she described that it not only honored the students' native language, but also allowed students to use their first language to check for understanding with their peers. Janelle remembered this as being crucial in her student teaching in Brazil, as younger students would rely on friends with higher levels of English to assist them: *"I feel better about letting their friends help them when they don't have fluent English language skills."*

As Janelle indicated, her student teaching experience impacted her in numerous ways. From the school that hired her, to the graffiti art projects displayed around Iowa's capital city, to the welcoming environment that she created for students of all cultures, the lasting impact of four months of living and teaching in a non-Western culture will continue to weave among her students and others that Janelle encounters.

Summary

This chapter presented the (a) DMIS analysis and (b) First Year Teaching Interviews. Using DMIS, the paricipants were analysed based on the student teaching reflections and the subsequent interviews which occurred during their first year of teaching. All five participants displayed attributes of a person in the Adapataion stage of cultural sensitivity, which is



uncommon for the typical teacher in the U.S., but common for someone who has had an extended lived experience abroad.

Finally, this chapter examined the participants as they moved from their experience as student teachers into the professional classroom as fulltime teachers. The participants recalled their daily interations with students and shared the value that their student teaching experience in a non-Western culture added to the tacit and explicit paractices they used in their classrooms. The data from all sources used to explore the research questions comprising this study will be discussed in Chapter 6.



CHAPTER 6. DISCUSSION

Summary

The purpose of this study was to explore and gain understanding of how first year teachers described the intercultural development that occurred while student teaching in a non-Western culture, and the value that those experiences abroad brought to these teachers' classrooms in their first year of teaching. The focus was to capture the essence of their experiences abroad as perceived and described by the participants, and how those experiences influenced both the tacit and explicit practices in their first year of teaching.

This study focused primarily on experiences student teaching in non-Western cultures, in part, to increase awareness of the opportunities that exist in non-Western cultures for university administrators and aspiring educators. A common misconception held by university students and faculty alike is the idea that international student teaching placements are limited to English speaking countries, as many are not familiar with American International Schools. Another belief often held by university faculty is the idea that student teaching within the framework of a familiar American curriculum lacks cultural depth and understanding. This study sought to illuminate the rich cultural experiences of the participants within the context of both a non-Western culture and an American curriculum.

Current literature on the topic of international student teaching is heavily rooted in Western cultures, and typically ceases at the completion of student teaching. In addition to increasing awareness, this study attempted to add to that existing body of literature, by extending specifically into the potential impact of an international student teaching experience during the first year of teaching with the focus solely on non-Western student



teaching experiences. Previously studies have closely examined international student teaching experiences, but none have exclusively examined non-Western cultures while also extending into the first year teaching experience. Experiences in non-Western cultures provide exposure and interactions with second language speakers while also increasing experiences with populations that emulate immigrant populations in today's U.S. schools and communities.

The literature review focused on previous studies addressing the impact of international student teaching, mainly in Western cultures, as well as the increasing needs for teachers in today's schools to be prepared for diverse student populations. Additionally, Bennett's Developmental Model for Intercultural Sensitivity was utilized to frame the study, while shedding light on variables that impact teacher's abilities to relate, interact and empathize with culturally diverse students. Within Bennett's theoretical framework, this study sought to examine attitudes and behaviors that were displayed by the participants both during the student teaching semester as well in the first year of teaching. The data used in this study included student teaching reflections, blog entries, and semi-structured interviews with the participants during their first year of teaching. The reflections and blogs were received in written format and, therefore, straightforward correspondence. The interviews, however, were verbal and, thus; required a multi-faceted approach for analysis.

Qualitative research methodology was applied to allow ample opportunity for the participants to share detailed examples of socially constructed meaning derived through lived experiences in non-Western cultures as well as in their first year of teaching. Grounded in socially constructed meaning, phenomenology guided the methodology of the study with continued emphasis and reliance on the lived experiences of the participants.



Participants in this study were comprised of five purposefully selected first-year teachers. It was required that each of the participants had completed their student teaching experiences in non-Western cultures during the academic year prior to the study being conducted. The location of the participants' first year teaching job was not a factor as this study looked specifically at how the student teaching experience equipped each participant to teach in *any* environment. Data were gathered, reviewed and analyzed through reflections from the student teaching experiences. Additionally, two interviews were conducted with each participant using various formats. Given the widespread geographical locations of the participants, interviews were conducted via telephone, Skype, or face-to-face.

The first of the semi-structured interviews occurred in the semester that followed the participants' student teaching experience. This first interview focused specifically on the student teaching experience, asking the participants to recollect their time abroad. More specifically, participants were asked to consider any changes in their beliefs on the various cultures that exist not only in the world, but in schools as well. Participants were asked to tell their stories, rich with details and rooted in situations that caused them to re-think their own perceptions as they became increasingly exposed to various cultures. Finally, the first interview asked participants to address what differences existed between student teaching experiences in a non-Western culture as opposed to their early field experiences or their peers who completed student teaching their home culture.

The second semi-structured interview was intended to shift attention toward the first year of teaching, as teaching strategies, attitudes and behaviors that were gained from student teaching were implemented in the participants' own classroom settings. Participants were



also asked to discuss their personal philosophies or assumptions about learning as well as how these underlying assumptions translate into classroom activities.

The interviews were recorded and transcribed by the researcher. Transcripts were analyzed using open and focused coding (Esterberg, 2002). It was through this data analysis process that the essence of the participants' lived experiences was discerned. At the conclusion of each interview, the recording was transcribed and emailed to the participants in effort to validate the trustworthiness of the transcripts (Esterberg, 2002). After approval by the participants, the transcripts were read in their entirety two to three times each to gain a holistic sense of the information while using open and focused coding. Upon thorough analysis, the data were broken into chunks, coded, and organized by emergent themes which were discussed in Chapters 4 and 5. Chapter 4 focused specifically on the themes from the student teaching experiences particularly relevant to the non-Western cultures in which they lived, whereas Chapter 5 encompassed the participants' first year of teaching relative to Bennett's Developmental Model for Intercultural Sensitivity. During this time, Bennett's DMIS was also read in its entirety to gain an accurate depiction of the stages of intercultural sensitivity.

This chapter discusses the findings of the study and provides implications for policy, practice and teacher education, as well as suggestions for future research. The chapter concludes with the researchers final thoughts on this study.

Discussion

A synthesis of the data in this study, when applied to Bennett's theoretical framework, not only accurately depicted the experiences of the participants as they navigated



intercultural situations, but also specifically extended Bennett's theories by applying them in a non-Western setting as well as beyond student teaching and into the first year of teaching. Given the nature of this study, Bennett's theory is limited in that it does not differentiate between the varieties of possible intercultural experiences, as it assumes that all experiences have the same potential impact. When visiting a variety of states within the U.S. one is likely to encounter notable cultural differences; however, those differences are limited in scope and not as unique as when one visits another country. Depending on a person's upbringing, it is likely to experience cultural differences when visiting rural, urban or suburban areas of the U.S, and even more so when venturing into lived experiences in Western or non-Western cultures. It is possible to travel abroad and never leave the confines of a military base, a compound, or a five star resort and therefore, never truly experience that culture.

To further elaborate, a person whose home culture is Western will experience even greater disparities when visiting a non-Western culture than when visiting a Western culture. As demonstrated in this study, an extended stay in a non-Western culture has a greater impact on cultural sensitivity than a Western culture simply because the range of diversity is greater. Bennett's theory does not differentiate between intercultural experiences that provide minor cultural adjustments, and those that are all encompassing. Bennett (2001) did state that "the underlying assumption of the model is that as one's *experience of cultural difference* becomes more sophisticated, one's competence in intercultural relations increases" (p. 13). With this in mind, it would be accurate to say that an experience in a non-Western culture provides a more sophisticated level of intercultural relations as a result of vast exposure, inundation and interactions among diverse languages spoken, religious customs, cultural traditions, gender roles, and vast discrepancies in socio-economic groups. Bennett's theories,



although quite general, were amplified as the participants spent extended amounts of time in intercultural situations. The participants confronted cultural differences in some predictable ways, while also exemplifying the depth and breadth of the impact within the non-Western nature of this study.

As previously noted, the greater majority of U.S. educated teachers have European ancestry; thus, the non-Western emphasis of this study expounded upon Bennett's model in that the myriad of cultural differences in non-Western locations is far greater than that of Western cultures. Therefore, in a non-Western culture, the abounding cultural differences serve to further increase the intercultural relations and competencies gained by those living within such cultures. There are certainly unique differences that a person must acclimate to within a Western culture; however, these differences are not as encompassing as the comprehensiveness of a non-Western culture. Whereas there may be unique language, customs, and religious practices encountered on an individual basis within Western cultures, a person living in a non-Western culture is often inundated simultaneously with these differences, and without reprieve. For the duration of the time spent living in a non-Western culture, one must live within that culture, and with the inability to retreat into customs that are known and comfortable.

The analysis of the participants revealed that a clear distinction exists between the participants in this study and a majority of U.S. teachers with a more limited scope of experiences. That distinction lies in how individuals view differences. Hammer and Bennett (2003) described individuals in the ethnocentric stages as avoiders of differences, whereas those in the ethnorelative stages as seekers of differences. Cushner (2012) asserted that "There is every indication to suggest that today's classroom teachers and teacher education



students are stuck in the ethnocentric side of this scale and may not have the requisite disposition to be effective intercultural educators nor possess the skills necessary to guide young people to develop intercultural competence" (p. 604).

Cushner further illuminated numerous relevant studies that also utilized Bennett's framework as a reliable instrument to examine the intercultural sensitivity of both classroom teachers and students in those classrooms. These studies indicate that 84%-91% of the U.S. classroom teachers participating in these studies fell at the minimization stage or below (Bayles, 2009, Mahon, 2006, 2009; Pappamihiel, 2004). Two additional studies (Pedersen, 1998; Straffon, 2003) looked at the intercultural sensitivity of the school-age students and found data that contrasted from that of the classroom teachers, suggesting that the students are better prepared to embrace diversity than many of their teachers. Cushner (2012) summarized these studies with the assertion that "the greater amount of exposure to difference (urban vs. suburban and rural schools in the Pedersen study and the amount of time in international schools in the Straffon study), the higher level of intercultural sensitivity. As this chapter unfolds, this statement by Cushner becomes crucial and central to the analysis of the current study.

These aforementioned assertions ignite the necessity for teacher education candidates to awaken their breadth and depth of experiences to enable them to relate to students from diverse backgrounds. Without intentionally interrupting cultural hegemony, prevailing cultural norms are inevitably imposed by the predominantly White, middle class, and monolingual teaching force in U.S. schools. Beliefs about teaching and learning go unchallenged when misconceptions about diverse children's lives and cultures are socially reproduced by abounding stereotypes. The National Center for Educational Statistics (2009)



attested that, during the 2006 to 2007 academic year, more than 4 out of 10 students in U.S. schools were from underrepresented groups. This being the case, the participants experiences in non-Western cultures were substantial, timely, and relevant as there is further indication that this ratio will continue to rise, with 20% of U.S. public school enrollment now being comprised of students with Hispanic ancestry. The participants in this study revealed that their experiences in non-Western cultures disrupted their previously deficient paradigms and replaced them, thus increasing their ability and desire to coalesce into a diverse, yet harmonious, society.

The non-Western focus of this study illuminated the lived experiences of the participants during their student teaching experiences, where they often co-existed as constituents of the societies while they were living abroad. For these participants, the closest resemblance of their home culture was found within the school hours, where the language of instruction was English and the school structure mostly resembled a U.S. school day. However, even within the confines of the school campus, multiple languages could be heard among both students and staff, and the cultural diversity in the classrooms was far more apparent than is typical in U.S. schools. Although it is likely that the participants were inadvertently granted some social privileges by the sheer nature of being U.S. Americans, they undoubtedly found themselves submersed in sea of language barriers, diverse religious practices, and cultural norms. Through their daily routines of interacting within the communities in a foreign language, the participants gained firsthand experiences with the accompanying challenges while trying to assimilate into a society. In their attempts to assimilate, their obvious accents, or inability to speak the language was just one characteristic that made full assimilation impossible.



In addition to the language barriers, the participants also described numerous other encounters where they had to readjust their habits or lifestyles to meet the expectations of the cultures in which they were living. Through their daily routines of interacting within the communities in a foreign language, the participants gained firsthand experiences with the accompanying challenges while trying to assimilate into a society. Ranging from culturally different methods of greeting new friends, to the timeliness of one's arrival and deviating routes home to avoid interrupting public prayer time, the participants provided copious examples of lived experiences that altered their thinking and behavior both personally and professionally. Additional challenges came when attempting to buy groceries, reading labels not only in a different language, but in some case, even in a different alphabet, making attempted pronunciation impossible as well. One participant spoke of her experiences with daily prayer calls and the need to coordinate taxi rides, shopping trips and other routine activities to accommodate prayer times throughout the day. Other participants told of needing to differentiate between black market sales and legal sales in effort to remain within the laws of the country, or bartering for better prices and in some cases not being taken seriously because of their female gender. The participants recognized the limits that societies imposed on them when they demonstrated insufficient language skills or cultural deficiencies. When these challenges became personal experiences, the participants felt the frustrations as limited language or cultural abilities were misinterpreted as lacking ability or intelligence.

The participants' social equilibrium was disrupted when the dominant culture in which they were living held distinctly unique beliefs and perceptions from what the participants perceived to be true about social engagements and interactions. Although the



social equilibriums will likely be re-balanced upon returning to their home culture, these participants have enhanced their awareness of others through their own lived experiences, thus bringing new empathy to their teaching and to the students that they will teach. This empathy is depicted by Bennett within the adaptation stage of DMIS. Through the extended period living in such a diverse culture, and without the ability to withdraw from the diverse setting, the participants' level of cultural sensitivity actually advanced beyond the superficial recognition and acceptance of cultural differences. Most teachers, who have never lived outside of their home culture for any extended period of time often place emphasis on the commonalities of all people, ethnocentrically expressing such ideas as *"Deep down we are all the same"*, or *"When you really get to know them, they're pretty much like us."* However, even as the participants move back into their home cultures, they will carry with them the ethno-relevant self-awareness as well as the awareness of others, accepting cultural

differences as viable alternative method for interacting.

Whereas it is possible to have had similar experiences in Western cultures, the inundation with vast differences in a non-Western culture was all encompassing for the participants in this study. As Cushner (2012) suggested, the extended period of time in a diverse environment enabled the participants to move from the comfortable stage of minimization into the advanced stage of adaptation, where they began to recognize that differences are important and worthy to embrace. This study augments Cushner's recommendation for teachers to extend beyond their inherently narrow-minded perspectives and environments and provides evidence of participants exhibiting transformational intercultural interactions, as based on their experiences specifically in non-Western cultures. Being from European ancestry and commonly upheld Western traditions, the participants



found that living in a non-Western culture altered almost every aspect of their lives, causing them to deal with the discomfort often experienced by students who comprise an increasingly larger percentage of U.S. classrooms. Through this disequilibrium, the participants gained empathy and cultural sensitivity found in the Adaptation stage, which can also be characterized as "intentionality" and "authenticity" and "typically occurs when casual contact with other cultures becomes more intense", such as when living abroad for a significant amount of time (Bennett, 2001).

It seems impervious to distinguish the interwoven personal impressions from the professional impact of participant's experiences living in non-Western cultures. There are two levels within the Adaptation stage: the first being "cognitive frame-shifting", and the second being "behavioral code-shifting." In the initial stages of adaptation, the participants began to feel the appropriateness of cultural empathy and attempted to reorganize their behavior to replicate characteristics of another culture, rather than their primary culture, in particular situations. For example, as one assimilates into a culture where it is customary to greet one another with a kiss on the cheek, a U.S. American in the initial stage of adaptation will authentically feel the appropriateness of the greeting and move toward this behavior, although, perhaps, awkwardly at first. In the later stage, one's behavior shifts naturally into the behavior of another culture and the greeting is comfortable within the context of that culture. As the participant interviews depicted, the individuals in this study discussed numerous ways in which they found themselves thinking or even acting outside of their primary culture. Participants routinely described the pace of life in the U.S. as compared to the non-Western cultures that they experienced. While it is increasingly expected that people in the U.S. live a fast-paced life in order to accomplish more tasks in a day, participants



began to value the slower pace that they experienced in non-Western cultures. As participants dedicated more time to developing relationships, helping others and enjoying the moment, they not only gained appreciation for this new view on time, but also began to incorporate it into their own daily life and interactions. The participants also expressed ways in which they had expanded their thinking to accept different perspectives, value different lifestyles, and resist judging other based on their skills sets. By understanding that life experiences contribute to a person's skills sets, the participants came to embrace the skills that people possess rather than judge according the skills that are lacking.

Another distinguishing characteristic often observed in the Adaptation stage is the development of one's cultural identity. As the participants wrestled with the authenticity of their own cultural empathy, they began to wonder how they can still maintain their own personal identify yet behave in these alternative ways. Bennett (2001) answered this question by stating "the definition of self is expanded to include the alternative contexts" (p. 22). Within this new identity, the participants in the study supplemented their repertoire of acceptable behaviors in various cultural contexts and, thus, who and what they identified with as different from their former perceptions.

In the most advanced stages of *Adaptation*, people may begin to feel bicultural to the extent that they identify with the alternative culture, and their behavior shifts naturally between their alternative and primary cultures (Bennett, 2001). This expanded sense of self was the most apparent theme across all participants. Without prompting, each participant discussed a new sense of identity. The participants expressed the sensation of being alone in a new culture and looking at themselves and their own culture from the outside in. As they became absorbed in a culture different form their own, their own cultural norms became



apparent when they conflicted with their new environment. More than one participant described this as a time for self-discovery as well as an opportunity to become exactly whom they wished to be. The extended time living abroad also enabled them to develop an elaborate sense of self efficacy. This was not only depicted in their words but also in the manner in which they carried themselves throughout the interviews.

The self-efficacy displayed in the participants, when translated into teaching strategies could potentially have a rewarding impact on their ability to facilitate learning in their classrooms. As the participants encountered countless obstacles while living in non-Western cultures, they learned to persevere beyond those challenges. As this study uniquely extends beyond student teaching and into the first year of teaching, these levels of perseverance were examined beyond the student teaching semester. When applied to classroom instruction, the participants demonstrated persistence in their first year of teaching, allowing the teacher to approach a student's learning with the same commitment to success that the participants applied when navigating a diverse cultural situation. A teacher with a heightened level of self-confidence is less likely to find deficiencies in a struggling student's inabilities to grasp a concept and is more likely to look within themselves for new approaches for teaching, just as the participants explored new approaches to language barriers, or other daily tasks while living in a non-Western culture.

This same self-confidence could also have adverse effects if not situated in the context of the learning environment also. It should be noted that the economically privileged status of the student population in the American International schools where the participant's student taught is in contrast with the more underprivileged student population that commonly accompanies diverse students in the U.S. Even though the finding in this study indicated that



experience in non-Western cultures increased the participant's abilities to differentiate instruction, it did not account for students living underprivileged lives. Although Darci provided several testimonies for increased abilities to relate to diverse students, her first year of teaching in an inner city school carried unique challenges that were not present during her student teaching experiences. While she empathized with her students who were having difficulties with language or adapting to the culture, she also recognized the potential shortcoming of her experiences student teaching in the private school in Thailand. What she has gained though, is the understanding of what her students may be experiencing as they attempt to adapt to the U.S. culture that Darci easily identifies with. Her experiences in Thailand provided her the self-efficacy and empowerment to over-come obstacles with students, but could potentially be a barrier as well. If a person is overly confident in their abilities, or strategies that lead to success in one population, they could potentially neglect to situate the experiences or fail to recognize that what leads to success in one environment may not lead to the same success in another environment.

Implications and Recommendations for Policy, Practice, and Teacher Education

The findings from this study have implications for policy and practice among teacher candidates, teachers, and teacher educators. This study focused predominantly on the experiences of pre-service teachers while student teaching in international locations, and many of the lessons learned can be utilized to inform university policies and practices, especially within teacher education programs.

Over a decade has passed since Gay (1999) urged teacher education programs to place critical emphasis on culturally competent teaching practices. Gay warned that "...no



one should be allowed to graduate from a teacher certification program or be licensed to teach without being well grounded in the dynamics of how the cultural conditioning operate in teaching and learning" (p. 34). Since that time, elective courses have been introduced to teacher education programs and additional criteria have been added to syllabi, but few, if any, mandates have been made on teacher education programs to indicate sincere effort toward prioritizing the transformational cultural awareness of teacher education candidates. The results of this study indicate that there are multiple paths that could potentially lead to the development of teacher education programs that prepare highly capable teachers who are prepared to embrace the diversity in U.S. schools.

First, we must cease the shallow approach to multi-cultural teacher education that allows teacher education faculty to facilitate courses on a topic they have little or no passion toward. An example provided by teacher educator, Ukpokody (2011) is unfortunately not uncommon. Ukpokody introduced an initial "sage on the stage" approach toward teaching a course that is intended to foster positive disposition toward diversity even though his passion for cultural diversity "did not intersect with [his] cultural competence to lead transformative, social justice and culturally responsive pedagogy" (p. 450). Although Ukpokody developed this passion, the change occurred over time and as a result of a variety of lived experiences with diversity; as he noted, "the litmus test of one's cultural competence occurs when a person interacts with other people with different worldviews" (p. 450).

The words of Malcolm X ring true today: "We can't lead where we won't go" (as cited in Ukpokodu, 2011, p. 450). Just as it would be absurd to imagine a person with no experience or expertise in the sciences to teach a college level course in this discipline, it is preposterous to think that teacher educators with limited experiences outside of their own



culturally encapsulated world views and no passion for cultural relevant teaching could possibly instill such values or passion in their pupils. Culturally relevant teaching is as crucial to education as the academic skills and it is imperative that teacher educators have the experiences and passion for both, in order to pass this passion on to their learners.

As the results of this study have emerged, there is evidence to suggest that an extended lived-experience abroad, where one is immersed in a foreign culture, has a transformational impact on one's personal and professional cultural competencies. Whereas this study focused specifically on pre-service teachers, it is likely that the same impact would be had on teacher educators with similar lived experiences. Just as university students have a variety of opportunities to study abroad, so too should teachers and teacher education faculty. These opportunities should not only be made available, but strongly encouraged by administrators with the understanding that the proactive approach to building these strengths in the teacher education faculty will be passed onto the students in the courses they teach, and ultimately the students in k-12 education.

Culturally relevant teaching cannot be taught in isolation as a separate course, or even as a unit within a course. Culturally competent teachers weave examples from various cultures throughout their narratives and lessons while also thinking critically within a variety of cultural contexts on a local, national and global scope. These examples come from life experiences and may initially take the shape of a simple story. However, eventually these stories transform into a set of values and beliefs which allows teachers and teacher educators alike to effectively reach their students and bridge connections from life experiences to academic learning. Cultural competencies among university faculty, as well as classroom



teachers, are central to connecting with students, building relationships and fostering equal opportunities for all learners.

With the focus of this study primarily on non-Western cultures, it is important to note the particular dynamics and challenges that exist and may be more prevalent than in Western cultures. Just as there has been resistance toward multi-cultural education, resistance toward non-Western student teaching is to be anticipated as well. As stated by McLaren (2003), some scholars "believe that schools serve the interests of the wealthy and powerful while simultaneously disconfirming the values and abilities of those students who are most disempowered in our society already"(p. 189). McLaren asserted that critical pedagogists, however, attempt "to provide teachers and researchers with a better means of understanding the role that schools actually play within a race-, class-, and gender-divided society" (p. 189). Opportunities to student teaching in non-Western cultures is a means for pre-service teachers to gain respect and understanding through increased exposure to diversity, rather than avoiding differences and socially reproducing existing barriers.

Language barriers, comparable educational environments, and safety are among some aspects that must be considered when implementing student teaching placements in non-Western cultures. Language barriers can seemingly create great obstacles for university personnel attempting to communicate with schools in non-Western cultures. As stated initially in this study, American International schools exist in almost every nation around the globe. English is typically the language of instruction in these schools. Teachers and administrators are upheld to the same level of English proficiency as in any U.S. school, diminishing the often misconceived communication gap between university personnel in the U.S. and school administrators or potential cooperating teachers in non-Western cultures.



The schools are held to the rigorous international and U.S. standards as mandated by the entities that accredit them. Most American International schools are accredited by the same accrediting bodies as school in the U.S., but are additionally held accountable for international and host country standards as well. It is not uncommon for graduates of American International schools to earn one, two, or three diplomas at the time of graduation. Whereas a U.S. diploma is standard, it is also possible the graduate will also earn an International Baccalaureate degree and a diploma from the host national curriculum as well.

The students who attend American International schools typically come from privileged families and are from diverse family backgrounds. As described by each of the participants in this study, it was common for the student body to be comprised of host country nationals and other expatriate families living overseas for diplomatic or international business related purposes. Although the social capital of these students does not emulate the challenges commonly found among lower socio-economic diverse population in U.S. schools, the students in American Internationals schools do bring their own unique set of challenges. These challenges include unique cultural values and tradition, limited English skills, parents who may be routinely away for business, or in some cases, living elsewhere while the student lives on the school campus, and a host of other challenges. In some cases the students may be living in a dichotomy of two cultures, where their school day operates predominantly on U.S. norms but their home life is rooted in non-Western traditions. While this may seem easily dismissible, this dichotomy impacts such issues as arrival and ending times of school which may differ greatly from the student's neighbors or other family members. It may be typical for children in some cultures to stay awake until the early morning hours, as it is traditional for their family to sleep late into the day. School meal



times and quantities of food at particular times of the day is often based on Western traditions, offering smaller portions at breakfast and lunch, while expecting the students will have a large dinner in the evening. However, often times the families of these students live in accordance to their own culture, with a large lunch and smaller dinner. Additionally, students in American International Schools often experience a school day in English, yet an evening in another language.

Although the students at American International Schools typically do enjoy great social capital outside of school, the conglomeration of these unique characteristics are part of the culture of the school and the student body that the teachers and student teachers take into account when building relationships and constructing academic learning. As evidenced in this study, the value gained through a student teaching experience in a non-Western culture is not diminished because of the privilege the student's experience. The daily interactions that the student teachers experienced with multiple nationalities inside the school day, and the rich cultural experiences while living in the host culture outside of the school, provided interactions with a variety of cultures and increased not only the ability to empathize with one culture, but a host of cultures, while recognizing that each is similar and unique in their own ways.

University policies on travel must be evaluated and assessed prior to any international student travel. As with any extended travel experience associated with a university, it is important to consider safety precautions. Student should not be allowed to travel to any country listed on the U.S. State Department warning list and university personnel must keep an updated watch on this list as it routinely changes in accordance with world events. It is crucial to maintain a database with records for each student traveling. The database should



include the student's legal name, contact information for people in the international location and full email, phone, and physical address of destination, including the school and home where the student will be working and living. Other important information includes the travels dates, flight itineraries, copies of passports, liability insurance and health insurance. Students must provide evidence of both forms of insurance, including policy statements of individualized letters from the companies stating that the coverage extends outside of the U.S. All information regarding student travel should be housed in a central location, such as the Study Abroad office or the likely other location. If disaster strikes, parents, students and faculty should be able to determine within one phone call if any university students are in a treacherous situation or in need of assistance. Prior to student departures, individual meetings should be conducted with the university personnel overseeing the placement, provide ample time for questions and all documents to be recorded. Safety must be of primary concern when considering placing student teachers in international locations, but when proper policies and procedures are followed, international student teaching placements in Western or non-Western locations can be life changing experiences.

It should be noted that universities can do more to encourage students to obtain international experiences during their college years. Opportunities for study abroad, capstone projects, international internships and summer employment make up only a few of the possible avenues that university students can take advantage of, however, few do. Cushner (2011) explained that "although 81% of first year students say they plan or wish to study abroad, at best, only 5% of first-year students ultimately do study abroad, and few of the students who study abroad are preparing to be teachers" (609). Several factors come into play as the first year students create course schedules, but if advisors and faculty value



international studies, they will increasingly support the students desire to participate in such programs. Oftentimes, students are reluctant to take an extended period of time away from campus for fear that they will fall behind in their studies or extend the timeline it requires to graduate. International student teaching is one way that pre-service teachers can combine required course work with an opportunity to experience another culture while also building their capacity to relate to future students. Financial restrictions may also deter students from taking part in international programs, however, non-Western cultures tend to be significantly less expensive that Western cultures, and in several cases student teaches have spent less money while student teaching abroad, than their peers who student taught in their home state.

Finally, this study has implications for hiring practices of the administrators in U.S. schools. There is not significant research available to indicate if hiring administrators consider the potential benefits of an international student teaching experience. A study conducted by Gilson and Martin (2010) examined the perspectives of Iowa administrators toward teaching candidates who student taught abroad. Although more than 90% of the respondents believed that pre-service teachers with student teaching experience abroad would have an expanded world view and be more tolerant and understanding of educational differences or other barriers to education, there is no evidence to suggest that administrators look closely at these characteristics when choosing their final candidates for teaching positions. Gilson and Martin further explained the administrator's perspective by stating, "Unless respondents have experience with teachers who gained their experience abroad, it is difficult for even the most tenured administrator to quantify the degree to which those experiences might make applicants more qualified candidates" (p. 10). The results of this study could serve to inform hiring administrators of the cultural competencies gained through



an international student teaching experience and potentially influence the hiring practices of administrators.

Recommendations for Future Research

The results of this study have opened the opportunity to explore other similar studies regarding international student teaching. Whereas this study focused primarily on student teaching experiences in non-Western cultures, and included five participants from the same mid-west university, there are additional variables that could also be considered when researching this topic.

This study was the first to focus specifically on the experiences of student teachers only in non-Western cultures. Far more universities offer student teaching in Western cultures than they do in non-Western cultures, and therefor relevant research on those experiences is not difficult to obtain. It would be valuable to conduct a comparative study, building upon this study, to include five student teachers who completed student teaching in a Western culture and compare the experiences. Since most student teaching experiences in Western cultures occur in host country schools, rather than schools with U.S. curriculums, the influences on the first year of teaching could produce interesting insights. Whereas host country schools provide a thorough and elaborate understanding of one culture and curriculum, there may be differences in how the depth of one culture influences first year teachers.

This study encompassed student teachers from the same mid-west university and access to student teachers in non-Western cultures was limited to the participants from this particular university. The results of this study could be used as a basis for a survey



instrument to form a qualitative study with a larger pool of participants. A more comprehensive study may be extended to include various universities and include different student teaching locations with participants who go on to teach in a wider range of school settings for their first year of teaching. This larger research pool could also glean insights regarding the percentage of international student teachers who return to the U.S. to teacher as opposed to those who choose to begin their careers abroad. This study demonstrated that two out of five participants chose to remain abroad, while the other three returned to the U.S. A larger participant pool could provide further information on the career paths of the participants.

Finally, a case study dedicated to researching one student teacher in a non-Western culture could provide details not included in this study. While this study looked only at the first day reflections and the final reflections of the student teaching experience, a comprehensive look at the student teaching experience would garner further details of the challenges and celebrations as the participants experience the dips and valleys of the non-Western culture. This study focused on the initial and concluding thoughts of the experience of living in a non-Western culture, which were overwhelming positive. However it cannot be assumed that the participants did not experience struggles along the way. Additionally, a case study could more closely examine the details and implementation of the daily impact in the first year of teaching.

Personal Reflexivity and Transformation

At the onset of this study I shared the initial steps in my personal journey toward gaining cultural sensitivity. My personal and professional life has been transformed through



lived experiences abroad. Just as the participant's experiences abroad continued to influence their lives beyond the completion of their student teaching experiences, so too have my experiences abroad extended into my life today and continue to shape me. Although I bracketed my own experiences throughout this study and kept the data true to the participants own words, I could not help but hear my own voice repeatedly in their thoughts, words and actions.

As a supervisor of more than 20 student teachers in Western and non-Western cultures, each semester I have the fortune of reading their reflections, similar to those used in this study. In reading these reflections, I recognize that the experiences the student teachers are living out and the lessons that they are learning, are predictable in many ways, however, it is the details of their stories that add richness to those lessons. Although I could tell them my stories, it is not until they are personally engage in their own lived experiences that those lessons become meaningful and begin to transform their lives, as it did mine. My desire to specifically focus on non-Western cultures stemmed from several professional conversations where I often sensed that the experiences in American International schools were discounted by the sheer nature of being a familiar curriculum, regardless of the diversity that existed within the school or outside its campus. In reflecting upon my own experiences, I questioned this thinking, recalling countless scenarios from my own experiences in Japan, Egypt and Brazil in which I remembered feeling as much, if not more, inundated with cultural, religious, economic and language diversity than what some of my student teachers in Western cultures wrote of in their reflections. Such was the impetus for my interest in exploring the impact of international student teaching in non-Western cultures.



When I unbracketed my own experiences, and I listened to the stories of the participants in this study, I was immediately lost in memories of Cairo, where I student taught in a culture more unfamiliar to me than I had ever imagined. I recalled my arrival and the overwhelming sound of the Arabic language, with shouts and guttural sounds resembling aggression in my own language, yet resulting in hugs in the unfamiliar land; I recalled two days of answering my telephone every time the doorbell rang, as the sound of the doorbell resembled what I knew to be a telephone; the constant, never ending clamor and commotion of the city, giving new definition to the term *noise pollution*; waking to prayer call at the crack of dawn each day of my three years there; and the drummer boy who proudly pounded on my door during in the middle of the night during Ramadan, reminding me to wake up as to not miss my chance to eat before the sun was up, and expecting *baksheesh* for his good work. I recalled choosing my meat by pointing to my desired portion of the skinned cow that hung by its tail outside of the butcher; I recalled needing to rely on my husband to be firm in bartering, when I couldn't be taken seriously as a woman; searching for anything that resembled a Christmas tree in December and trying to explain at the produce market that a gourd just wasn't the same as a pumpkin in October, and the donkey carts on the streets, side-by-side with the Mercedes and BMWs.

I recalled the *bowab* and his family of five living on my doorstep who were granted the rights to live there in exchange for opening doors, carrying groceries and watering the plants. And the embarrassing moment when I learned one of my most valuable lessons ever from that man; *Different is not wrong*, as he rejected my gift of an empty hair spray bottle to mist the plants before polishing the leaves. Assuming he didn't know how to use it, I demonstrated the proper spraying techniques, rather than accepting his practice of blowing



water from his mouth, through pursed lips. As I attempted to enforce upon him my Western customs and privileges granted to me as an American, I neglected to recognize that his home, my doorstep, provided no place to store such an item, and thus his mouth served the same purpose, and was far more convenient.

I recalled the Egyptian aide in the school who outwardly critiqued me, and the pride I took in cleaning my own apartment rather than hiring a cleaning lady. My culture had taught me to scoff at people who hired out work that they could do themselves; yet, in that moment, I was being judged for not providing work for someone in need. *"You American's are so greedy with your riches"*, she exclaimed in the teacher's lounge. *Different is not wrong*.

These encounters outside of the school taught me more than any textbook or teacher education course could possible attempt to emulate. Through these experiences, interacting daily within a diverse culture, I learned that culture is everything. Culture is not only the language we speak, the food we eat, or the holidays we celebrate as it is often reduced to in U.S. schools. Culture is everything we say and do. It is how we interact; it is the tone of voice we use, the words we choose, the way we structure our days, the items we surround ourselves with and the space we feel comfortable within. It is all encompassing. Our culture defines us and cannot be dismissed in classroom settings.

In this study, the emphasis on first year teachers grew out of the question I am repeatedly asked; *"Will student teaching abroad make me a better teacher?"* While I have been inclined to affirm that it does, I was challenged to find literature to support such evidence, especially when the student teaching experience was situated in a non-Western culture. Throughout this study, I listened to the participant's stories, knowing that their experiences outside of their home culture had transformed them personally and I found



myself eager to discern the ways in which that transformation would manifest into classroom practices as they began their careers.

Throughout this qualitative study, the stories of the participants are not intended to be generalized across larger groups of students. However, the details of their experiences are rich with evidence of personal and professional growth, and when looked at individually, illuminate the possibilities as teacher educators, teachers and student teachers continue this journey of becoming culturally sensitive, while providing culturally relevant teaching to best meet the needs of all students.



133

APPENDIX A. PARTICIPANT COMMUNICATION

Email Letter

Hello!

I hope you are well and excited about the start of your teaching career! You have so much to look forward to!

I am writing now with a request that hope you will give it some consideration. As you may know, I am pursuing my Ph.D at Iowa State University and I am about to begin my dissertation research. I am looking for participants to be part of my study. As a former international student teacher, and currently as a first year teacher, you have experiences that fit perfectly with my proposed research.

I will preface this by saying that I don't have money to offer or gifts to bear. Your participation would truly be out of the kindness of your heart, your desire to be self-reflective in your first year of teaching, and your interest in letting your experiences influence current literature, research, practices and policy for the future of international student teaching.

I have attached here an informed consent document that outlines the details of my research. The purpose of this study is to explore how first year teachers describe student teaching abroad and the value that those experiences bring to their classrooms. The focus is on capturing the essence of the experiences abroad as perceived and described by participants and how those experiences have influenced both the tacit and explicit practices in their first year of teaching.

The informed consent document gives many details but mostly I want you to be aware that if you choose to participate in this, I don't want you to feel the need to be overly "scholarly" in your wording. I would like to hear you "think out loud" on such topics as how and why you choose your lessons, what considerations you might be making as you create units, lessons, curriculum or what influence your student teaching might have had on the decisions you are making.

I hope that you will give this your consideration and know that I certain value the level of contribution that you could provide. I am hopeful that you are interested in participating, but certainly understand if you do not. Please reply to this email to let me know your thoughts, your questions, concerns.... anything.

Thank you for your consideration and best wishes as you begin your first year of teaching!

Sincerely, Leigh Martin



Follow-up email letter

Hello!

I hope you are well and excited about the start of your teaching career! I understand that as a first year teacher you are very busy! However, I hope that you are able to take the time to read the attached items that I recently sent you in an email.

I am writing now with a request that hope you will give it some consideration. As you may know, I am pursuing my Ph.D at Iowa State University and I am about to begin my dissertation research. I am looking for participants to be part of my study. As a former international student teacher, and currently as a first year teacher, you have experiences that fit perfectly with my proposed research.

I will preface this by saying that I don't have money to offer or gifts to bear. Your participation would truly be out of the kindness of your heart, your desire to be self-reflective in your first year of teaching, and your interest in letting your experiences influence current literature, research, practices and policy for the future of international student teaching.

I have attached here an informed consent document that outlines the details of my research. The purpose of this study is to explore how first year teachers describe student teaching abroad and the value that those experiences bring to their classrooms. The focus is on capturing the essence of the experiences abroad as perceived and described by participants and how those experiences have influenced both the tacit and explicit practices in their first year of teaching.

The informed consent document gives many details but mostly I want you to be aware that if you choose to participate in this, I don't want you to feel the need to be overly "scholarly" in your wording. I would like to hear you "think out loud" on such topics as how and why you choose your lessons, what considerations you might be making as you create units, lessons, curriculum or what influence your student teaching might have had on the decisions you are making.

I hope that you will give this your consideration and know that I certain value the level of contribution that you could provide. I am hopeful that you are interested in participating, but certainly understand if you do not. Please reply to this email to let me know your thoughts, your questions, concerns... anything.

Thank you for your consideration and best wishes as you begin your first year of teaching!

Sincerely, Leigh Martin



www.manaraa.com

PARTICIPANT SIGNATURE

Your signature indicates that you voluntarily agree to participate in this study, that the study has been explained to you, that you have been given the time to read the document, and that your questions have been satisfactorily answered. You will receive a copy of the written informed consent prior to your participation in the study.

Participant's Name (printed)

(Participant's Signature)	(Date)	

Investigator Statement

I certify that the participant has been given adequate time to read and learn about the study and all of their questions have been answered. It is my opinion that the participant understands the purpose, risks, benefits, and the procedures that will be followed in this study and has voluntarily agreed to participate.

Leigh Martin, Investigator

(Date)



APPENDIX B. DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS, STUDENT TEACHING REFLECTIONS, INTERVIEW FORMS, AND RECORDKEEPING

Demographic Questions

International Student Teaching in Non-Western Cultures; the Impact on First Year Teachers Demographic questions:

- 1. What is your gender?
 - 1. Male
 - 2. Female
- 2. What is your ethnicity?
 - 1. White/Caucasian
 - 2. African American
 - 3. Asian
 - 4. American Indian
 - 5. Hispanic
 - 6. Other
- 3. Is English your native language?
- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 4. Where did you spend a majority of your childhood years? (city, state, country)
- 5. What was your age during your student teaching semester?
- 6. What was your major(s) in college?
 - 1. Early Childhood Education
 - 2. Elementary Education
 - 3. Middle Level elementary
 - 4. Secondary Education
 - 5. Special Education
 - 6. Special area education (music, PS, art, industrial technology)
 - 7. Speech and Language pathology
- 7. What was your cumulative GPA from college?



- 8. Had you ever traveled abroad prior to your student teaching experience?
 - 1. No
 - 2. Yes

-If yes, where did you travel and what was the purpose of that travel?

9. Where did you student teach? (school, city, country)

10. What kind of school did you student teach in?

- 1. American International School
- 2. Host Country School
- 3. Department of Defense School

11. Where are you currently teaching? (school, city, country)

12. What grade/ subject area are you currently teaching in?



Day 1, Student Teaching Reflection Format

Name:					
Home University: UNI Other (If other, name of University)					
Placement Location (City/State/Country):					
School:					
Grade Level/Subject Area:					
Reflection:					
Day 1 Week 2 Week 4 Week 6 Week 8					
First Placement Second Placement					
Iowa Teaching Standard					
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8					

Choose one of the 8 Iowa Teaching Standards to reflect upon. Reflections can focus on either the school environment or the cultural environment that you are living in.

Describe a particular aspect of your current environment

<u>Reflect</u> upon the situation and its relevance to one of the Iowa Teaching Standards.

<u>Plan</u> for the future. How will you use this experience to impact your immediate student teaching, and eventually your own classroom, or your personal ambitions?

Reflections should be 2 pages, double spaced.



139

Final Student Teaching Reflection

Please complete this reflection upon completion of your final student teaching placement in either an out-of-state of international setting.

Name:

Home University: UNI Other (If other, name of University)

Placement Location (City/State/Country):

School:

Grade Level/Subject Area:

Please address the following questions in your final reflection:

- 1. Describe how this experience has influenced your teaching, or mindset as a teacher, or in general.
- 2. What unique teaching skills have you gained by choosing to student teach in an outof-state or international setting? How are these skills unique to your experience outof-state or overseas?
- 3. Describe any personal influences from this experience. Have you grown as an individual in your thinking or perceptions of the world /nation? If so, how?
- 4. How will these personal influences impact your teaching style, and ultimately the students in your classroom?



Interview #1

Guiding Questions:

Talk briefly about your own K-12 schooling. Where was it? What cultural differences existed in the schools you attended?

What interactions did you have with classmates (in either HS or college) who were culturally diverse?

How did you decide to student teaching in _____?

Were any of your beliefs about the world and its people challenged during your student teaching?

Can you remember any specific incidences where you had to re-think your own perceptions on a situation?

What do you think you have learned about yourself as a result of student teaching overseas?

In what ways are you different from your peers who did not student teach overseas?

Is there anything else you'd like to share with me about your experience student teaching overseas?



www.manaraa.com

Interview #2

Guiding Questions:

Describe the school you are working in, the students, teachers and environment.

What aspects of your international student teaching influence you today?

Can you describe some underlying philosophies or assumptions that you base your lesson planning or teaching on?

How do these philosophies translate into classroom interactions or activities?



Recordkeeping

Documentation of Critical Dates

Transcripts from interviews sent to participants

Participants	Interview 1 Sent	Interview 1 Approved	Interview 2 Sent	Interview 2 Approved
Alissa	12/27/2011	01/05/2012	02/05/2012	02/06/2012
Amanda	12/19/2011	12/19/2011	3/21/2012	3/21/2012
Darci	12/27/2011	3/21/2012	3/21/2012	3/21/2012
Jacey	12/27/2011	3/21/2012	12/27/2011	3/21/2012
Janelle	12/19/2011	01/22/2012	3/21/2012	3/21/2012

Peer Review

9/12/2011: Chapter 1-3, Peer reviewed by Dr. Nicholas Pace, University of Northern Iowa

1/14/2012: Chapter 4, Peer Review by Dr. Timothy Gilson, University of Northern Iowa



REFERENCES

- Appelbaum, P. (2002). *Multicultural and diversity education: A reference handbook*. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO, Inc.
- Anfara, V., & Mertz, N.T. (2006). *Theoretical frameworks in qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Baert, P. (1998). *Social theory in the twentieth century*. New York: New York University Press.
- Banks, J. A., & Banks, C. A. (2007). *Multicultural education: Issues and perspectives* (6th ed.). Washington, DC: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Beattie, M. (2001). *The art of learning to teach*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Bennett, J. M. (1993). Cultural marginality: Identity issues in intercultural training. In R. M. Paige (Ed.), *Education for the intercultural experience* (pp. 109–135). Yarmouth, ME: Intercultural Press.
- Bennett, J. M., & Bennett, M. J. (2001, June). Developing intercultural sensitivity: An integral approach to global and domestic diversity. In *The Diversity Symposium*, 2001 [Electronic version]. Symposium conducted at the Bentley Campus in Waltham, MA. Retrieved from http://www.diversitycollegium.org/pdf2001/2001Bennettspaper.pdf
- Bensimon, E. M., & Tierney, W. G. (1992/1993). Shaping the vision for a multicultural campus: Strategies for administrators. *College Board Review*, 166(Winter), 4-30.
- Bryan, S. L., & Sprague, M. M. (1997). The effect of overseas internships on early teaching experiences. *Clearing House*, 70(4), 199-202.
- Chang, M. J. (1999). Does racial diversity matter? The educational impact of a racially diverse undergraduate population. *Journal of College Student Development*, 40(4), 377-395.
- Chu, S. (2008). Implementation of supportive school programs for immigrant students in the United States. *Preventing School Failure*, *53*(2), 67-72.
- Clement, M.C. (2002). Student teaching abroad: learning about teaching, culture, and self. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, Retrieved from http://findarticles.com/p/articles/ mi_qa4009/is_200207/ai_n9124955/print

Corbin, C & Strauss, A. (2008). Basics of qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.



- Cremin, L. A. (1975). Curriculum making in the United States. In W. Pinar (Ed.), *Curriculum theorizing: The reconceptualists* (pp. 14-35). Berkeley, CA: McCutchan.
- Creswell, J.W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J.W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crotty, M. (1996). *Phenomenology and nursing research*. Melbourne, Australia: Churchill Livingstone.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research. London, U.K: Sage.
- Cushner, K. (2008). International socialization of young people: obstacles and opportunities. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *32*, 164-173.
- Cushner, K., & Brennan, S. (2007). *Intercultural student teaching: A bridge to global competence*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Education.
- Cushner, K., & Mahon, J. (2002). Overseas student teaching: affecting personal, professional, and global competencies in an age of globalization. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *6*, 44-58.
- Cushner, K., McClelland, A., & Safford, P. (1992). *Human diversity in education: An integrative approach.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Eisner, E. W. (1998). *The enlightened eye: qualitative inquiry and the enhancement of educational practice*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Esterberg, K. (2002). Qualitative methods in social research. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Feiman-Nemser, & D. J. McIntyre (Eds.). (2008). *Handbook of research on teacher* education: Enduring questions in changing contexts (3rd ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Firmin, M. W., Firmin, R. L., & MacKay, B. B. (2007). Affective responses of overseas student-teachers [Electronic version]. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, (4)12, 1-8.
- Fischer, K. (2010, October 17). Study abroad's new focus is job skills. The Chronicle.
- Friedman, T. L. (2005). *The world is flat: A brief history of the twenty first century*. New York: Farrar, Straus, & Giroux.
- <u>Frum, D. (2000). *How we got here: The '70s.* New York: Basic Books. Retrieved from Wikipedia, Immigration and Nationality to 1965.</u>



Garfinkel, H. (1967). Studies in ethnomethodology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Gay, G. (1999). Building cultural bridges: A bold proposal for teacher education. In J. Q. Adams & J. R. Welsch (Eds.), *Cultural diversity: Curriculum, classrooms & climate* (pp. 235-244). Macomb, IL: Western Illinois University Foundation.
- Gay, G. (2000). *Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, & practice.* New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gay, G. (2003). Becoming multicultural educators: Personal journey toward professional agency. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Gibson, S., & Dembo, M.H. (1984). Teacher efficacy: a construct validation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(4).
- Gilson, T. W., & Martin, L. C. (2010). Does student teaching abroad affect teacher competencies? Perspectives from Iowa school administrators. Action in Teacher Education, 31(4).
- Grant, C, & Gillette, M. (2006). *Learning to teach everyone's children: equity, empowerment, and education that is multicultural.* Belmont, CA: Thompson Wadsworth.
- Gurin, P., Dey, E. L., Hurtado, S., & Gurin, G. (2002). Diversity and higher education: theory and impact on educational outcomes. *Harvard Educational Review*, 72 (3), 330-366.
- Gutek, G. L. (1993). American education in a global society: internationalizing teacher education. New York: Longman.
- Hammer, M.R., & Bennett, M. J. (2003). Measuring intercultural sensitivity: The Intercultural Development Inventory. *International Journal for Intercultural Relations*, 27(4), 403-419.
- Hayward, F. M. (2000). Internationalization of U.S. higher education: Preliminary status report. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.
- Henriksen, R., & Nikels, H. (2002). Multicultural school counseling with children in grades K-6. Multicultural Education in a Pluralistic Society, 141-144. Retrieved from http://counselingoutfitters.com/vistas/vistas05/Vistas05.art30.pdf
- Hogan, D. E., & Mallott, M. (2005). Changing racial prejudice through diversity education. Journal of College Student Development, 46(2), 115-125.
- Hu, S., & Kuh, G. D. (2003). Diversity experiences and college student learning and personal development. *Journal of College Student Development*, 44(3), 320-334.



- Hurtado, S., Milem, J., Clayton-Pedersen, A., & Allen, W. (1999). Enacting diverse learning environments; Improving the climate for racial/ethnic diversity in higher education.
 ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report (Vol. 26, No. 8). Washington DC: George Washington University, Graduate School of Education and Human Development.
- Kanet, R. E. (1996). Internationalization, constrained budgets, and the role of international education consortia. *International Education Forum*, *16*(1), 59-70.
- Kennedy, R. (n.d.). *Teaching overseas*. Retrieved from http://privateschool.about.com/od/overseas/qt/teachabraod.htm
- Koppelman, K, & Goodhart, R.L. (2005). Understanding human differences: Multicultural education for a diverse America. Boston: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1992). Reading between the lines and beyond the pages: A culturally relevant approach to literacy teaching. *Theory into Practice*, *31*(4), 312-320.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory into Practice*, 34(3), 159-65.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2001). Crossing over to Canaan. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Marginson, S. (2010, May 30). The rise of the global university: 5 new tensions. *The Chronicle*. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/article/The-Rise-of-the-Global/65694/
- Marklein, M. (2008, November 18). Record number of U.S. students study abroad, in diverse locations. *USA Today*, News Education. Retrieved from http://www.usatoday.com/news/education/2008-11-16-study-abroad_N.htm
- Marsh, C. J., & Willis, G. (2007). Curriculum: Alternative approaches, ongoing issues (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall
- Marsh, T., Hollingworth, L., Hale, S., & Gillon, K. (2011). Organization and administration of Iowa public and private schools. Dubuque, IA: Kendall Hunt.
- Martines, D. (2005). Teacher perceptions of multicultural issues in school settings. *The Qualitative Report*, 10(1), 1-20.
- Marx, H. A. (2008). Learning about self far from home: A pre-service teacher's intercultural development during an international program. NERA Conference Proceedings 2008. Paper 34. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uconn.edu/nera_2008/34
- Marx, H., & Moss, D. (2011). Please mind the cultural gap: Intercultural development during a teacher education study abroad program. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 62(1), 35-47.



- McLaren, P. (2003). An Introduction to Critical Pedagogy in the Foundations of Education (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education
- McMillan, A. R., & Opem, G. (2004, March 9). Study abroad: a lifetime of benefits. *Abroad View Magazine*, Retrieved from https://www.iesabroad.org/IES/ About_IES/IES_News/Articles/ newsArticle0012.html
- Melnick, & M. L. Gomez (Eds.), *Currents of reform in preservice teacher education* (pp. 133-175). New York: Teachers College.
- Merriam, S., & Associates. (2002). *Qualitative research in Practice: Examples for discussion and analysis.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merryfield, M. (2002). The difference a global educator can make. *The World in the Classroom*, 60(2), 18-21.
- Merryfield, M. M. (2000). Why aren't teachers being prepared to teach for diversity, equity, and global interconnectedness? A study of lived experiences in the making of multicultural and global educators. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *16*, 429-443.
- Miller, K. (2007, August 20). *The benefits of teaching abroad: making the most of a volunteer teaching experience: Suite101.com*. Retrieved from http://www.suite101.com/content/the-benefits-of-teaching-abroad-a29283
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2002). *Profile of undergraduates in U.S. postsecondary institutions: 1999-2000.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2009). *Public elementary and secondary school student enrollment and staff from the common core data: School year 2006-2009.* Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2009/2009305.pdf
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Neito, S. (2000). Affirming diversity: The sociocultural context of multicultural education. (3rd ed.). White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Noddings, N. (2005). *Educating citizens for global awareness*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Orfield, G., & Lee, C. (2004). *Brown at 50: King's dream or Plessy's nightmare?* Retrieved August 20, 2007, from University of California, Los Angeles Civil Rights Project website: www.civilrightsproject.ucla.edu
- Ornstein, A. C. & Hunkins, F. P. (1993). *Curriculum foundations, principles, and theory*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.



- Pence, H. M., & Macgillivary, I. K. (2006). The impact of an international field experience on preservice teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com
- Pickert, S. M. (1992). Preparing for a global community: Achieving an international perspective in higher education. (ASHE-ERIC higher Education Report No. 2). Washington, DC: The George Washington University, School of Education and Human Development.
- Prasad, P. (2005). *Crafting qualitative research: Working the postpositivist traditions*. Armonk, NY: M. E. Sharp.
- Quezada, R.L. (2004). Beyond educational tourism: lessons learned while student teaching abroad. *International Education Journal*, *5*(4), 458-464.
- Rankin, S. R., & Reason, R. D. (2005). Differing Perceptions: How students of color and White students perceive campus climate for underrepresented groups. *Journal of College Students Development*, 46(1), 43-61.
- Robins, N. R., Lindsey, R. B., Lindsey, D. B., & Terrell, R. D. (2006). *Culturally proficient instruction: A guide for people who teach* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Roose, D. (2001). White teachers' learning about diversity and "otherness": The effects of undergraduate international education internships on subsequent teaching practices. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, *34*(1), 43-49.
- Sadler Jr., W. A. (1969) *Existence and Love: A new approach in existential phenomenology*. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons.
- Seidman, Irving. (2006). *Interviewing as qualitative research; a guide for researchers in education*. New York: Teachers College Press, Columbia University.
- Sergiovanni, T. J. (Ed). (1982). *Supervision of teaching*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Sleeter, C. E. (Ed.). (2007). *Facing accountability in education: Democracy and equity at risk.* New York: Teachers College Press.
- Sleeter, C. E., & Grant, C. A. (2007). Making choices for multicultural education: five approaches to race, class, and gender (5th ed.). Danvers, MA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Sleeter, C. (2008). Preparing white teachers for diverse students. In M. Cochran-Smith, S.
- Smith, M., Nemser, S., McIntyre, D. J., & Demers, K. E., (2008). *Handbook of research on teacher education: enduring questions in changing contexts*. New York: Association of Teacher Educators.



- Springer, L., Palmer, B., Terenzini, P. T., Pascarella, E. T., & Nora, A. (1996). Attitudes toward campus diversity: Participation in a racial or cultural awareness workshop. *Review of Higher Education*, 2 (1), 53-68.
- Stachowski, L. & Brantmeier, E. (2002). Understanding self though the other: Changes in student teacher perceptions of home culture from immersion in Navajoland and overseas. Knoxville, TN: International Education. The H.W. Wilson Company.
- Stachowski, L. L., & Mahan, J. M. (1998). Cross-cultural field placements: Student teachers learning from schools and communities. *Theory into Practice*, *37*(2), 155-162.
- Stachowski, L.L., Richardson, J.W., & Henderson, M. (2003). Student teachers report on the influence of cultural values on classroom practice and community involvement: perspectives from the Navajo reservation and from abroad. *The Teacher Education*, 39(1), 52-63.
- Tatum, B. D. (2003). Why are all the black kids sitting together in the cafeteria? and other conversations about race. New York: Basic Books.
- Trooboff, S, Vande Berg, M, & Rayman, J. (2007-2008, Fall/Winter). Employer attitudes toward study abroad. *The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 15(1), 17-33.
- Ukpokodu, O. (2011) Developing Teachers' cultural competence: one teacher educator's practice of unpacking student culturalessness. *Action in Teacher Education*, *33*:432-454.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2001) Population Division and Housing and Household Economic Statistics Division. Retrieved May 5, 2009, from http://www.census.gov/population/www/pop-profile/natproj.html
- U.S. Department of State. Retrieved July 25, 2011, from http://us.fulbrightonline.org/about_programhistory.html
- Valli, L., Croninger, R. G., & Chambliss, M. J. (2008). *Test driven: High-stakes* accountability in elementary schools. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Villegas, A.M. (2008) Diversity and teacher education. Handbook of research on teacher education: enduring questions in changing contexts. New York: Association of Teacher Educators.
- Villegas, A. M. & Davis, D. E. (2008). Preparing teachers of color to confront racial/ethnic disparities in educational outcomes. In M. Cochran-Smith, S. Feiman-Nemser, & D. J. McIntyre (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teacher education: Enduring questions in changing contexts* (3rd ed.), pp. 583-605. New York: Routledge.

Whitaker, T. (2004). What great educators do differently. Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.



- *Why your student should study abroad.* (n.d.) IIEPassport.org. Retrieved May 12, 2008, from http://www.iiepassport.org/parents/student-should-study-abroad.html
- Young, E. (2008). Focus on global education: A report from the 2007 pdk summit. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 89(5). Retrieved from http://www.pdkintl.org/kappan/k_v89/k0801you.htm
- Zeichner, K. (1996). Education teachers for cultural diversity. In K. Zeichner, S. Melnick, & M. L. Gomez (Eds.), *Current reform in preservice teacher education* (pp. 133-175). New York: Teachers College.

